# Supreme Master Ching Hai A Master from the Himalayas Three-time invited lecturer for the United Nations Recipient of the World Peace Award and the World Spiritual Leadership Award

# **Secrets To Effortless Spiritual Practice**

# A collection of spiritual teachings by Supreme Master Ching Hai



I do not belong to Buddhism or Catholicism. I belong to the Truth and I preach the Truth. You may call it Buddhism, Catholicism, Taoism, or whatever you like. I welcome all!

Since the ancient time there is always a way to go back to the kingdom of God, there is always a way to see God. I dream that the whole world will become peaceful. I dream that all the killing will stop. I dream that all the children will walk in peace and harmony. I dream that all the nations will shake hands with each other, protect each other and help each other. I dream that our beautiful planet will not be destroyed. It took billions of years to produce this planet and it's so beautiful, so wonderful. I dream it will continue, but in peace, beauty, and love. Yes, that is my dream.

Contents and original words in this book are permeated with grace and blessings of Supreme Master Ching Hai The Supreme Master Ching Hai International Association Offices in all major cities and countries around the world Headquarters: PO Box 730247, San Jose, CA 95173-0247, U.S.A. P.O. Box 9, Hsihu, Miaoli 36899, Formosa (Taiwan)



# Contents

Master's New Year's wishes to all in 2003	4
Introduction	5
A biography of Supreme Master Ching Hai	7
Secrets to effortless spiritual practice	
Ten secrets on the journey of the soul * Focus on the Truth	10 11
* Total faith in the Master	15
* Remain focused and detached during retreats	17
* Renounce everything and be free	21
* The benefit of being near spiritual mentors	22
* Humility is close to the Truth	24
* Those with a pure heart progress more quickly	28
* Relax	31
* Be happy	36
* Love your family	39
* The ego and Sound meditation	42
Some small secrets to share	46
* Develop the body, speech and mind together	47
* Anger will hinder our practice	48
* Always keep pure and positive	49
* Take care to eat pure foods	51
* The result of coveting offerings	52
* Create a positive halo of energy	53
* The way to minimize sexual desire	54
* Master's books and videos tapes are the best spiritual tonic	56
* The real meaning of "Ba Guan Zhai Jie" – The eight areas of fasting	57
* A tonic is sometimes necessary during the winter of spiritual practice	58
* The best time for meditation * How to get into the habit of early morning meditation	59 60
* Turning two and a half hours into timelessness	62
* How to meditate a lot and not feel tired	63
* If obstructions occur during meditation	64

Page

Supreme Master Ching Hai – Secrets To Effortless Spiritual Practice	3
<ul> <li>* Concentrating inside on the wisdom center</li> <li>* How to handle the problem of trembling during meditation</li> <li>* Building courage and rising above obstacles</li> <li>* Taming the human brain</li> <li>* Unexpected grace can come anytime!</li> <li>* For those who want to progress more quickly</li> <li>* Asceticism doesn't erase karmic hindrances</li> <li>* Practicing with the right method</li> <li>* The way to sainthood</li> <li>* Serving selflessly</li> <li>* The more we work, the more enlightened we become</li> <li>* The more we work, the more enlightence</li> <li>* Acquiring a faster vibration</li> <li>* Public service is the fastest way to cleanse karma</li> <li>* Be a shining example of sacrifice and true love</li> <li>* Why are incredible benefits gained from group meditation</li> <li>* How to concentrate and meditate better</li> <li>* We strive in order to know that we don't need to strive</li> <li>* An era full of God's grace</li> <li>* Cherish the opportunity to practice</li> </ul>	66 67 68 70 72 73 74 75 76 77 78 80 81 82 83 84 82 83 84 86 87 89 90 91 92
Initiation into the Quan Yin method of meditation	94
The Supreme Master Ching Hai's teachings on line	96
How to contact us	97
Introduction to our publications	98
Beautiful gifts for yourselves and your loved ones	101
Alternative living	103
Supreme Master television	104



# Master's New Year's wishes to all in 2003

Dearest beloved,

New Year comes, I greet you with afresh enthusiasm and expectation for the beginning of a great new spiritual awakening.

May your days be filled with wonders and happiness, love and wisdom.

May the blessing of God be your most treasured prosperity in the new chapter of life.

Ching Hai.



Quan Yin method (the method of meditation on the heavenly Light and Sound) practitioners are the luckiest people in the world! Not only have we learned a priceless technique that enables us to attain eternal liberation in one lifetime, but we have acquired it from a true living Master. However, the way back to our heavenly Home is full of obstacles and temptations. So, we may often ask ourselves: "How can I safely and smoothly fulfill my destiny?" But there is no need to worry: Our merciful Master offers us many helpful tips derived from Her personal experience that serve as practical and effective tools to assist us along the spiritual path. If we keep these guidelines in mind and apply them in our daily practice, we will gain tremendous help in overcoming maya's (satan) temptations and other worldly problems until we finally arrive safely Home.

There are secrets to success in all types of mundane affairs, and the same is true of spiritual endeavors. When we learn these secrets, we will spend less time and energy in our practice and attain the same results more quickly. To wish to facilitate these efforts and remind ourselves of the many pearls of wisdom uttered by Master over the years, has resulted in this collection. As Master says, "I have searched high and low, and I know there is nothing better than what I have taught you." Thank you, Master, for giving us such invaluable spiritual treasures.

The entire contents of this book *Secrets to Effortless Spiritual Practice* are the original words of Supreme Master Ching Hai, recorded verbatim. Since one volume can only contain a certain number of pages, we had to select various topics from the many in Master's numerous lectures. (It was extremely difficult to choose, for every word of Master is important and precious.)

#### A little message:

In speaking of God, or the supreme spirit, Master instructs us to use original non-sexist terms to avoid the argument about whether God is a She or a He.

She + He = Hes (as in Bless). Her + Him = Hirm (as in Firm). Hers + His = Hiers (as in Dear). Example: When God wants, Hes makes things happen according to Hiers will to suit Hirmself.

-----

As a creator of artistic designs as well as a spiritual Teacher, Supreme Master Ching Hai loves all expressions of inner beauty. It is for this reason that She refers to Vietnam as "Au

### Supreme Master Ching Hai – Secrets To Effortless Spiritual Practice

Lac" and Taiwan as "Formosa". Au Lac is the ancient name of Vietnam and means "happiness". And the name Formosa reflects more completely the beauty of the island and its people. Master feels that using these names brings spiritual elevation and luck to the land and its inhabitants.

-----

The logo's characters, SM, stand for Supreme Master, signifying the Supreme Master power within everyone. The logo is an interweaving of red and gold colors. Red symbolizes the physical body, while gold represents the radiant Buddha nature or kingdom of God within.

-----

Abbreviations - "Q": Question; "M": Supreme Master Ching Hai.



# A biography of Supreme Master Ching Hai

Master Ching Hai was born in Aulac. Her father was a highly reputed naturopath. He loved to study world literature and was especially interested in philosophy. Among his favorites were the writings of Lao Tzu and Chuang Tzu, and these were available to Master Ching Hai as a young child. She read these and other Buddhist texts before She entered primary school.

Although Her parents are Catholic, they were open to Buddhist thoughts. Her grandmother was a Buddhist. Master loved to spend time with Her grandmother, and she taught Her the scriptures and Buddhist worship. Master Ching Hai developed a very open attitude toward religions due to this background. She would attend a Catholic church in the mornings, a Buddhist temple in the afternoons, and in the evenings would listen to lectures on the holy teachings. This left Her with many spiritual questions, such as "Where did we come from? What is life after death? Why are people so different?"

At one time, there was a shortage of doctors and nurses in Her town, so Master helped in the hospital after classes. She washed patients, emptied bedpans and did errands in Her efforts to ease people's suffering.

Master has always had a soft spot for animals, and would often take a wounded animal home, care for it and release it. When She saw an animal slaughtered, She would cry, wishing that She could prevent such unnecessary suffering. She has been a vegetarian, and has always been repulsed by the sight of killing or of meat, all Her life.

She worked for a time in Germany as a translator for the Red Cross. She translated between the Aulacese language, German and English, and also volunteered to work long hours in the service of Aulacese refugees. She did so at the expense of Her own health and comfort. Her work with the Red Cross put Master Ching Hai in contact with refugees from many countries. She was continuously faced with the suffering and turmoil brought on by wars and natural disasters. Master suffered a great deal trying to alleviate the pain She saw, and She realized how impossible it was for any one person to stop the suffering of humanity. This drove Her more strongly toward finding enlightenment, as She realized that only this could help alleviate mankind's pain. With this as Her goal, She practiced meditation even more seriously. She sought out new teachers, read everything She could find, and tested many different methods. She felt, however, that these efforts were not working, and that She was not experiencing the spiritual phenomena She read about in the scriptures, nor was She reaching the enlightened state. This was extremely frustrating for Her at the time.

#### Supreme Master Ching Hai – Secrets To Effortless Spiritual Practice

While in Germany, Master Ching Hai was happily married to a German scientist, with doctorates in two fields. He was a kind, attentive and supportive husband. He became a vegetarian, traveled with his Wife on pilgrimages and was very supportive of Her charitable works. Eventually, Master felt that She needed to leave Her marriage in order to pursue Her spiritual goals. She discussed this at great length with Her husband, and their separation was with his agreement. This was an extremely difficult decision for both of them, but Master felt very strongly that this was the right decision. She needed to devote Her undivided attention to the pursuit of enlightenment.

After leaving Her marriage, Master sought to find the perfect method which could lead one to attain liberation in one life time. In the Surangama sutra, Shakyamuni Buddha said that the Quan Yin method is the highest of all methods. None of Master's teachers knew it, so She traveled and searched everywhere for the right Master. Finally, after many years, She found a Himalayan Master who initiated Her into the Quan Yin method, and gave Her the divine transmission that She had sought for so many years. After a brief period of Quan Yin practice, She became fully enlightened. She continued practicing and improving Her understanding, and remained in retreat in the Himalayas for some time.

Eventually, Master Ching Hai traveled to Formosa. One evening, during a typhoon with heavy rain, as She meditated in a room behind a small temple, a group of people knocked at Her door. Master asked them why they had come, and they answered, "Quan Yin Bodhisattva (The Goddess of Mercy) replied to our prayers and told us about You, saying that You are the great Master and we should pray to You for the method to reach liberation." Master tried to send them away but they would not go. Finally Master, touched by their sincerity and devotion, agreed to initiate them, but only after several months of purification and their agreement to adhere to a vegetarian diet.

Shy by nature, Master Ching Hai did not seek out students to teach. In fact, She ran away from people who sought Her initiation. This happened in India, and in the United States where She was living the unassuming life of a Buddhist Nun. When She was "discovered" for the third time in Formosa, She realized that She must not run away from the inevitable tasks that lie ahead. She began sharing with all who wished to hear Her message of Truth, and She began initiating sincere students into the Quan Yin method.

Master Ching Hai's work has spread by word of mouth from this first small group in Formosa to many millions of people around the world. She has traveled and taught throughout Africa, Latin America, the United States, Asia, Europe and Oceania. Many people from all walks of life, and from many different religious backgrounds, have made great spiritual progress with Her help. Grateful friends and disciples are to be found all over the world, ready and willing to help others learn from their beloved Supreme Master.

In addition to helping countless numbers of people through Her spiritual teachings and initiations, Master Ching Hai has used Her boundless love and energy to assist those who are suffering or in need. In recent years, Her humanitarian efforts have touched the hearts and lives of millions of people all over the world. Master does not discriminate between suffering caused by spiritual ignorance, material privation, or circumstantial events. Wherever there is suffering, She will help.

#### Supreme Master Ching Hai – Secrets To Effortless Spiritual Practice

Some of Master Ching Hai's humanitarian activities in the past few years include aid to: The homeless throughout the United States; victims of fire in southern California; victims of many floods in the Midwest United States, central and eastern Mainland China, India, Malaysia, Aulac, Holland, Belgium and France; disadvantaged elderly in Brazil; those displaced by the eruption of Mt Pinatubo in the Philippines; disaster victims in northern Thailand; destitute families in Formosa and Singapore; lepers in Molokai, Hawaii; spiritual communities in India, Germany and Uganda; families of mentally retarded children in Hawaii; victims of the 9-11 tragedy in New York and victims of the Los Angeles, Turkey and Formosa earthquake; veterans of the United States; orphanages in Aulac; institutions of medical research on AIDS and cancer in the United States; and many, many others. Of course, we must also mention Master Ching Hai's never-ending and tireless efforts to help the Aulacese refugees, those both inside and out of refugee camps.

Although She has not ever sought acknowledgement of any kind, Master Ching Hai has been recognized and honored for Her humanitarian work by government officials throughout the world. For example, October 25, 1993 was proclaimed "The Supreme Master Ching Hai Day" by the Mayor Fasi of Honolulu Hawaii, and February 22, 1994 was likewise proclaimed by the six Governors of the States of Illinois, Iowa, Wisconsin, Kansas, Missouri and Minnesota. She also received the "World Peace Award" in Honolulu, and the "World Spiritual Leadership Award" at a ceremony in Chicago on February 22, 1994. Congratulatory messages were sent to Her at the Chicago ceremony by many government officials worldwide, including Presidents Clinton, Bush, and Reagan.

In recent years, Master Ching Hai has also devoted Herself to creative expression of the beauty She enjoys within. Her creative works include paintings, decorated fans, lamps, dress and jewelry designs, and songs. Many of these items are made available for purposes of fundraising.

Master Ching Hai has told us that She is not always enlightened. She lives a normal worldly life, and knows from experience about our problems, our heartaches, passions, desires and doubts. She also knows the heavenly realms of kingdom of God, and how to get there from here. Her sole function at this point in Her life is to help us with our journey from the suffering and confusion of the un-awakened state to the bliss and absolute clarity of total divine realization. If you are ready, She is here to take you Home.

Master Ching Hai takes an unusually broad view of all religions. She has studied and taught the words of Jesus, Buddha, Mohammed, Lao Tzu and many others. She always emphasizes the similarities among the great teachings, and lets us see through Her eyes how all the great Masters are preaching the same Truth. She often explains how different religious opinions have arisen, due only to the difference in opinions of different people in different countries at different times.

Master Ching Hai gives initiation and a variety of lectures to interested students and people, according to their backgrounds and cultures, including Christians, Moslems, Buddhists, Jews, Hindus, Taoists, or atheists, et cetera. She speaks fluently in English, German, Chinese, French and Aulacese languages. Those who wish to learn and practice the Quan Yin method with Master Ching Hai are welcomed to receive Her initiation.



# Ten secrets on the journey of the soul

When a Master comes to earth, not only are the disciples uplifted and shown wisdom, but the whole race of humankind is purified and uplifted to a certain higher level of consciousness. – Supreme Master Ching Hai –



Focus on the Truth

# When we meditate we should be sincere, so sincere that it's as if we're meditating for the last time, or as if we're to die the next day, or in five minutes. If we have this attitude in our heart when meditating we'll have achievement.

### All I had was pure sincerity

As I recall, there was no secret behind my attainment of the Truth. All I had then was pure sincerity. I pursued spiritual practice without any ideas, demands or person in my mind. I was naturally like that. Even if you asked me to die for the Truth at that time, I would have done it as I wasn't attached to anything in the world. Whether I had food or not I persisted in my spiritual practice. I never complained, nor was I distracted from the Truth by food.

I remember, when I was in India, I offered all my money to the so-called masters that I met so I was left without a penny. I never anticipated that I might sometimes yearn to have some biscuits, candy or ice cream. I had a better appetite at that time and ate a lot each day. Since I had no money then, every day I dreamt crazily about having some biscuits, but I couldn't get any. Only when I occasionally went out with people would I swallow anything I was offered like a hungry ghost. Even then, those things didn't distract me from my aspiration for the Truth. That's the only quality of mine that I can remember, and that's why God loved me, and let me have a taste of what the "Truth" is like.

Therefore, I want to impart this secret way to you. Should we want to attain the Truth quickly, apart from securing an experienced Master, we also need to have a sincere aspiration for the Truth; then it's enough. God doesn't require us to offer money, or to be a pure vegetarian. We observe a vegetarian diet to reduce our obstacles and to refrain from incurring blood debts. However, God never imposes harsh demands of any kind on us.

For instance, when we go to school, the teachers never demand that we go to bed late, get up early, or learn this or that. They don't make harsh demands on us, but as students, we know that we can't study well unless we get up early and go to bed late. Also, when we're studying, we refrain from indulging in pleasures. Didn't we have a tough time when we were students? We sacrificed everything, and pleasures were very rare. Only occasionally would we go to dances or parties; we couldn't go every day. It wasn't because our professors or

12

teachers forbade us, but we knew we must not be lazy and that this was the way to successful learning. If we were sluggish, we'd have to stay another year, or fail the exams.

# Focus on the Truth

We spiritual practitioners also have to follow some secret guidelines; for instance, being a vegetarian to keep our body, speech and mind pure. Free from the annoyance of subtle guilty feelings, our conscience will be at peace. We also have to take good care of the family and observe monogamy. Why? Because if there is turbulence and bad feelings within the family, we can hardly continue with our spiritual practice. Our minds will be distracted, and we can't focus on spiritual cultivation. The precepts are there to help us, to give us more time to concentrate, just like when we're studying in school.

Another example is that we should refrain from watching bad movies and reading erotic publications. This is meant to prevent us from getting stimulated, and then forgetting our inner self and our aspiration for the Truth. Keeping the precepts alone will not take us to Godhood. No! No! No! Let me cite another example: A student never goes dancing or indulges in pleasures, but can he graduate without studying? He can't! These are only helpful ways.

In the same sense, you won't reach Godhood by merely keeping the precepts, being a vegetarian or chanting the scriptures. At the most, you can only acquire some knowledge and know more about ethics. Attaining Godhood requires an entirely different lesson of training yourself to discover and dig out your treasure from within.

### **Total surrender**

So, when you've reached Godhood, perhaps I won't comment anymore about what you should do, but not now. Now you still have to follow the rules and train yourself to be disciplined. Otherwise, you'll be distracted and won't be able to concentrate on the ultimate goal. As a new spiritual practitioner, you had better keep the precepts strictly to build up your faith in the Truth. Therefore, don't ask me, "Why are You so strict?" I'm not strict! I just offer you the secret ways of spiritual practice. If we're too casual in spiritual practice, it will be difficult for us to learn the supreme techniques; so new practitioners should follow the Teacher's instructions. It's very difficult to follow the Master's instructions. You all think that you can do it, but you may fail when a test comes.

It's written in an Indian scripture: The Muslim commandment says that not only should you not consume alcohol, but even your clothes and your prayer rug must not be placed near alcohol. However, there's another saying that goes, "If your enlightened Master tells you to soak all your clothes in alcohol, you must comply." This means that you must do whatever the Teacher tells you, and this is really difficult! There's an ancient Chinese saying that states, "Upon entering a temple, you should offer your actions, speech and thoughts to the Dragon God Dharma Guards," which means total surrender. When you're totally free of your own ideas, ego and human prejudices and thoughts, you've reached the state of total renunciation. However, it's very difficult; from my observation, very few people have passed this test.

#### Your heart has to be as pure as a child's

When I was in India, I once met a world-renowned master. I was coughing very severely, perhaps because I was allergic to dust. When I was there, I swept the floor very day. I observed that no one else was willing to do the job, and the staircase was filthy and heavily covered with dust. Even the screens on the windows were very dusty, so I cleansed them thoroughly. Perhaps I didn't take good care of myself when sweeping the dust so it went into my lungs and made me cough for several months. I coughed until I felt like my lungs were going to explode and I couldn't stand it anymore, as if I would die very soon. Day and night I coughed and could neither sleep nor meditate. Then, the master there summoned me. I believed in him very much then; I believed in every master. [Master laughs.] Strangely, I had extraordinary faith. Whenever people said that someone was an enlightened master, I would believe it without testing him. That was how I treated all the masters I met.

At that time, I happened to believe in this master. He summoned me when he noticed that I was coughing very severely. I thought he would give me a secret remedy to stop my coughing, perhaps by using some miraculous power. When I went in, he asked me to drink a cup of liquid. After I drank it, they checked the bottle. Then both he and his attendant turned green. They were shocked. Oh, no! It was massage oil! I drank a large cupful of it. It was good enough that I didn't die from it. I must have had very strong life power. Both of them were pale and frightened, but they didn't let me know it; I found out later.

After that, they came every day to ask me: "Are You feeling okay?" I said, "Why? I'm all right." [Master laughs.] However, I felt really awful when I drank that medicine; I felt so bad that I wanted to vomit, but I didn't dare. How could I throw up the medicine given by a master? I regurgitated and swallowed it again several times until I swallowed it all. Phew! It was really terrible! It was sticky, spicy, bitter and oily. Good grief! I had never drunk any medicine that tasted so bad. Only later did I find out that they had given me the wrong thing. Yet I still didn't doubt him and stayed on for quite a while. Other ordinary people might have said, "He can't be an enlightened master! If he is, why did he give you the wrong medicine and almost kill you?" But no suspicion was aroused in me!

Most probably because I was so simple at heart and so dumb, God became more merciful toward me and let me realize the Truth sooner. I have very few secret ways. All I have are these very simple, easy ways, and I've told you all of them. Should you want to attain the Truth, your heart has to be as pure as a child's; be pure and simple in doing everything then you'll soon attain the Truth. If you're complicated, dispute too much, debate too much, think too much about right and wrong, and take victory and defeat too seriously, don't blame me if you're very slow in attaining the Truth; your frustrations are self-created.

#### A temporary paradise

There's nothing really serious about the world. Sooner or later we'll all die, and our graves will be covered by plants in no time. So, before we enter our graves, we should try our best to live more happily, do what we love to do, and do it wholeheartedly; serve the world, take care of ourselves, take care of the family; enjoy all the beautiful things that the world provides for us. Sometimes ugly things are also a kind of lesson and have their beautiful aspects. When we observe things through more enlightened eyes, we discern beauty in everything. Have you

noticed how pretty frogs are? They're very cute, aren't they? We can see the lovely side in everything. Sometimes ugly things also have their lovely aspects and are educational.

Therefore, let's do our best to treat this world as a temporary paradise, and treat all the people around us as Gods and enlightened beings. Although they don't recognize themselves as such, we should still respect them and treat them as we would ourselves; be strict but also forgiving; be loving but also detached. Then we'll be more relaxed in our actions, speech and thoughts and we'll naturally attain the Truth by practicing in this way.

Don't rush, don't be nervous, and don't force yourselves. It doesn't matter what level we've arrived at as it differs among individuals. By and by, everyone will understand. I can only promise you that you won't have to come back to suffer in this world, won't go to hell, won't become animals, and will definitely ascend. However, the level that you reach depends on your confidence and sincerity in your quest for the Truth. You can't hold me responsible; I can only guide and teach you. It's up to you to go slower or faster, and keep yourself going in the right direction or the wrong one.<sup>1</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Group meditation, Hsihu Center, Formosa, April 9, 1991 (Originally in Chinese).



**Total faith in the Master** 

When the enlightened Master sees us, She immediately knows where we need reparation, and how to do it, in a stern or gentle way. Therefore, if we follow a Master for spiritual practice, we should respect Her instructions and completely offer our actions, speech and thoughts to Her. If our commitment is half-given, then don't blame the Master when we fail to achieve something. The Master gives us half when we ask for half, and gives us all when we ask for all.

#### My only secret is my naivety!

I can't speak about the secret of my spiritual practice. The fact is that I have no secret. Perhaps the only secret is my naivety! God looks after naïve people. Because they're as helpless as a baby, everyone wants to protect them. When we see an abandoned and helpless baby, we quickly pick him up even if we're not his parents. Seeing him cry, we pat him. Seeing that he's hungry, we quickly feed him. This is because a baby is too innocent and clumsy. Therefore, everyone wants to look after him.

Perhaps my secret is just "naivety." When we're naïve, God takes care of us. Then we're always by Hiers side, because Hes will not leave us. We're just too naïve. We'll die if Hes leaves us. We look after a baby who is too little, innocent and unable to do anything, and are constantly by his side, protecting him twenty-four hours a day. If we're like babies, then we're together with God always, and everything is done by the "grown-up."

I rely on God's power to transmit the Truth to you. Everything I do is done by God, not by this layperson. It's safer, because the layperson may make mistakes, but God will not. As the saying goes, "The wise person looks like a fool." If we're foolish to that degree, God can't ignore us. Hes will do everything, and we won't err.

#### My Master knows all

When I was a disciple and was misunderstood or framed by fellow practitioners, I would just ignore them. I thought, "My Master knows all. He'll handle it." I had great faith and didn't complain or try to explain myself. I completely placed myself – my thoughts, words and actions – and my life – past, present and future – in the hands of my Master. So, I felt safe,

like a baby, without having to do anything on my own initiative. Perhaps this is my secret. At that time I felt very safe without having to take responsibility. Therefore, I was very relaxed, with no sorrow or worries, "because my Master knows all. He's the greatest." I felt like that in my heart.

I've never felt sorrow until now. Previously, things were perfect then as a student, I left everything to my Master's arrangements. There was nothing to complain about because I knew in my heart that He would take care of me. This is the only secret I have: Total faith. If you don't have faith in me, then have faith in the highest God, the highest Buddha. Hes can see all the actions of us sentient beings and will take care of everything. Hes really will!<sup>2</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Six-day retreat, Hsihu Center, Formosa, February 13-18, 1989 (Originally in Chinese).



# **Remain focused and detached during retreats**

Through your thinking of the Master, you become one with the Master and realize that the Master is you. The Master is your own real self. But because now you don't realize it, you can't help it: You just have to think of the Master, which is yourself. Gradually, through this thinking, all the qualities of the Master will be transmitted to you, and you will find yourself through the Master. And later you'll realize, "Oh! The Master is me. It was me all the time." That's why since ancient times, people have worshiped sages and enlightened Masters – for themselves – not for the sake of the Master.

To the ones who have progressed: Congratulations. You've done your best. You've put down many things. That's how you've progressed. For the ones who have not progressed: You have progressed, but too little.

In order to progress quickly, the way you always want and the way you always ask me, "Master, how do I progress quickly?" I tell you, "Put down, put down, put down everything," but you don't. You come here with a lot of friends, relatives, sons and daughters in mind. I tell you, you have them all day long, all life long and you have only five days here for God! But no, that guy comes second. That's why you don't progress.

The only secret is to put it down. God takes care of everything. We can't do anything! If God's grace isn't there, we can't do anything. Of course, you come here and ask me to intervene in your destiny. Sometimes I could ask God to do it. But it's not my problem. I could intervene; I could do anything for you. But it's your problem. Because if you come here with that intention, that's all you get. Maybe your son gets better or your daughter has a good marriage, but that's all you get. The whole treasure, you leave behind. And that's a pity for you.

That's why I'm not bothered if you ask me any questions, even mundane or petty questions; I can answer them for you. I can help you with anything. But I just feel bad for you. You came here for only five days, and you can't even remember God.

Just for once, you should come here just for Hirm, just for God! But no, you always come here and try to make excuses, asking for all kinds of favors. All these kinds of favors you could ask

at home. I tell you truly: Anytime you pray to God or the Master power, it's heard. We're not deaf! I hope you don't think so. [Applause]

And I hope you don't think that "I" am here [Master indicates Her physical body.] that I am sick, I am ill, I am weak, I am small, I am big, I am this and that. No, no, no! It's not me; it's not this person. We're not deaf, we're not dumb, we're not blind and we're not stupid. So, there's no need to come here whining about your family and friends or your problems and misfortunes. You can; you can talk to me about anything you want. Of course, if you want to take me as a mother, as a friend, as a shoulder to cry on, that's fine also. But remember, these are only secondary.

And whenever a retreat comes, you should take advantage of the time, of no disturbances, no demands from family and friends, no business, no work, no boss, no colleagues, no husband or wife – we separate for you – no quarrels, no kids. You should concentrate. Treasure this time as if, after this, you'll die. You'd have no more chance then to even worry about your family, who would be left behind! Will you have a chance to worry about them when you die? No! And you don't know if I'll be alive again the next day, much less after five days if I'll still be here to conduct another retreat. So, you're really silly.

The ones who don't progress are really silly. Every time you come to a retreat, we remind you to concentrate on one guy only: One Husband, one Wife. That's true faithfulness. It's not about you being loyal to your spouse on this planet. But you have to be loyal to the Spouse in heaven; this is most important because the spouse here can leave you at any time. If you become ugly, sick, old, or he meets someone better, like the karma loosens and he meets someone from a past life he feels better with, then you're doomed. But the Spouse in heaven will never, ever leave us. And we're very unfaithful; that's bad news. Nevertheless, I hope you learned your lesson this time, those of you who haven't progressed. Whenever or if we have a next time again, take your chance then, okay? [Applause]

I'm not angry with you; I'm not frustrated with you; I'm nothing. I just do whatever I have to do, at that moment only. So, whatever poison you feel, give it back to me now. You can go home and you're free. You're good, you're perfect again, and you're the person you are. When you're here, I have to correct you, I have to cleanse you, and the process is sometimes very painful for both of us. But it's okay. It's done, and you're free. After the five days, whatever's bad here or good here, it's gone. [Applause]

So, you're perfect, you're loved and you're wanted, as usual, and during the retreat, too. But other kinds of treatment might make you feel that you're unwanted or unloved. It's not true. It's just that administering medicine was necessary at that time. So, whatever you don't need, give it back; put it back right here and go home free. You're perfect as usual, even if you haven't progressed. You've just learned another lesson, at your own expense. I mean, money-wise, also. [Master and everyone laugh.] You spend a lot of money, coming here and going back for nothing.

It's not my fault; I sell everything! Everyone has the same sale. I don't reserve anything for anyone special; everyone can have the same merchandise. If you want to buy it, everyone has a chance.

### Supreme Master Ching Hai – Secrets To Effortless Spiritual Practice

Now, for the ones who have progressed, you should be happy and proud of yourselves. I don't have any reward or certificate to give you, but you know you're rewarded. You have your own certificate. You should be happy. [Applause] And for the ones who have not progressed at all or maybe just a little bit, since you can't help but progress a little – I hope there will be a next time for you, so that you can undo your mistakes. Next time, if we have any time, if you have any more chances to come ever again for such a retreat, please be one-pointed as if you're dead. If you're dead, no one can do anything to you. Put the word "dead" on your forehead before you go out the door. Take it off and say, "I'm alive again!" when you get out of this retreat. That's really what it is. [Applause]

Because if you're not dead to the world, you can't be alive with God. It says the same thing in the bible: "You can't worship both God and mammon." So, we have to be one-pointed. Whatever I did during this retreat was to guard you or herd you into this one-pointedness. Be it loving, be it petting, hugging or scolding, it's all to help you during these five days only. So, don't think that you're more special if I give you more tenderness, and don't think that you're terrible if I give you a scolding. You're all equal, equal, equally loved in my heart. [With tears in Master's eyes.] I love you so much! [Extended applause.]

Because even though sometimes you do things I don't like you to do because I know they're not good for your practice, or you have something in your heart that's not good for your practice, I know it's not your fault. It's just the circumstances that made you this way. It's this terrible world that pushes you into these situations.

I have nothing but love for you. I don't want to give you any harsh words or anything, but I have to. It's for your own good, but I just want you to know that I love you through all that. It's just like sometimes you scold your children, but you never stop loving them. And maybe if some of your children aren't well, you put them in the hospital. It's a terrible treatment for them, but you want them to be well. So, you put them in the mental ward, because you want their mind to be sharper, you hope, in the future. That's all there is to this treatment, but treatment is never pleasant. Just try to meditate more so you don't have to have this kind of treatment anymore.

Some of you were more enlightened in heaven before you came here, but you wanted to be even more enlightened than that. For example, when you were eighty percent enlightened in heaven, it means you were in the fourth world or something. But you came down looking for me because you knew I'd be here. And when you came down, your enlightenment became less than when you were in heaven. And you suffered and suffered here, and forgot everything that was on the path and in heaven for you. You've suffered more here because you've forgotten.

So, I'm trying in every way to make you remember, to reach back there and above it, above the level you were on before you came down. So, anything that's possible, I'll do for you. But you also have to try to remember your real self. Otherwise, the less we remember, the more we suffer. Anyway, I just want you to know that you're very much loved and very much respected because you're good. It's because the situation makes you so bad, yet you're still trying to be good. That's why you're good. [Applause]

You have so much pressure from home, society, friends, colleagues, jobs, boss, husband, wife and so on. And you still try your best to meditate at home, go to group meditation and also come here on retreat. Even if you come on an airplane, it's easy and all that, but it's not all that easy. So, for that, I really love you. I know you try your best, and God will know. So, anything you want, you should just pray for at home. The next time you go to a retreat, just desire to know God: For just five days, be dead to the world. [Applause] <sup>3</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Christmas five-day retreat, Florida Center, U.S.A., December 28, 2002 (Originally in English).



# **Renounce everything and be free**

Spiritual practice doesn't mean renouncing all enjoyment. That's a wrong concept. If we're too extreme or too serious, we misunderstand the meaning of spiritual practice. God didn't give us all these things to make us feel disgusted, but to comfort us and strengthen our faith in the Truth.

With the goodness and powerful energy from God, through meditation each day, we'll be able to dilute or maybe even digest completely any information that's harmful to our minds and souls.

When we're in the higher dimensions, we see everything in the innumerable worlds emerge and disappear in a fraction of a moment, just like bubbles! We can't even say it takes place in a moment. Things disappear almost as soon as they emerge. It's the same with all the illusory worlds we see in the higher dimensions.

We seem to go through long periods of suffering because of our ignorance. We're trapped in the cage of time and space; that's why it seems to be a long time. In reality, it's not that long. To God, it's even shorter than a second or a fraction of a moment. It can't be considered time. It passes really quickly! But since you're trapped in a corner, you can't see the whole and you think that you're just there. This isn't true; you're omnipresent. You're just stuck there and can't fly out. Then you consider yourself to be there, and you're just that one or this one.

Sometimes little birds or insects get stuck on our windows. Since the windowpane is transparent and the room is lighted, they don't realize that there's a window and they crash into the pane. Their heads become swollen and their eyes blinded, and in a short while they unconsciously fall on the floor. They don't enter through an open space, but fly right into the windowpane.

We do the same! We should renounce everything, even our happiness, and then we'll be fine. We shouldn't even ask for peace, health, success, reputation, riches or family. We should ask for nothing at all. Then we won't suffer. It's just that we ask for too much so we get stuck here and there, with our nose caught in there, too. And then we cry out for help.<sup>4</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Seven-day retreat, Hsihu Center, Formosa, September 28 – October 3, 1990 (Originally in Chinese).



# The benefit of being near spiritual mentors

It's important for us to have virtuous friends, those who are kind and good, and can talk with us about something good every day, persuading us to go in the right direction. Then we'll walk on the right path and become better and better. Our good qualities will emerge and grow, and become more apparent. We'll know better which direction is the right one.

### See your Master every day if possible

Sometimes we need someone to remind us of the benefits of spiritual practice in order for us to remember to practice. Otherwise, we come in daily contact with many mundane beings or beings who aren't at such a high level, and their non-practicing aura drags our level down a little so we become like them, busily engaged in worldly and mundane matters and then we forget our most important goal.

That's why it's really useful to be with spiritual mentors and saints. That means it's useful to be in the company of fellow practitioners and an enlightened Master. It's useful not because we see them or listen to them talk. Sometimes, even when we don't hear them speak, the aura of their spirituality serves as a reminder and gives us spiritual encouragement. Then we naturally think of spiritual practice. Sometimes just being near them makes us feel very comfortable and gives us the desire to meditate so that we no longer want to think about mundane matters again.

That's why in India they say to see your Master every day if possible; if not daily, then at least every two or three days. If that's not possible, then see your Master at least once a week, and if that's not possible, then at least once every two weeks; if not, then monthly. If that too isn't possible, then see Her once every few months; if not, then once a year. If that's still not possible, then at least once in a lifetime! If even this isn't possible, then you'll see the Master at the time of death. At that time She'll surely come to take you. Therefore, in the end you'll still see Her. However, we must have affinity with the Master for Her to come.

That's why the saying goes, "It's not easy to meet the Buddha." We don't necessarily see a Master even if we live with Her in the same world, or hear Her words if we live with Her in the same era. If we're the same age as the Master, or live in the same country or same village, it

doesn't necessarily mean we can receive Her blessings, because sometimes we lock ourselves up. Our heart is very important.  $^{\rm 5}$ 

That's why some people, like many fellow practitioners in China and Au Lac who can't see the Master and have never seen the physical Master, can see the Master's inner Light manifestation form. It's because their hearts are with the Master. This is also considered spiritual cultivation. The heart is very important.

#### The effortless meditation

- Q. How long must one meditate to reach enlightenment?
- M. Enlightenment comes immediately. As soon as you sit down with the Master and sincerely want it, it comes immediately. Sometimes even before initiation, or sometimes I haven't finished the instructions and people already get enlightenment. Some people are in a hurry; they have no time to wait. [Laughter]

But the meditation takes place daily because we always want to be in the enlightened state, and we always want to renew our acknowledgement of enlightenment. Or also we want to strengthen it, to expand until infinity. Otherwise, even if you meditate for one hundred years, you don't get any enlightenment.

Meditation doesn't bring enlightenment, the Master power does, because during initiation or during the so-called meditation in our method, you don't meditate because meditation means effort. But with our way, it's effortless. You might sit there sometimes even sleepy and then enlightenment comes, even then. Or you will be enlightened during sleep because the Master power will wake you; it will awaken your soul during your sleep. While your mind is asleep and your body is at rest, your soul will be awakened into the world of Light and wisdom.

Therefore, meditation is not a means to enlightenment. But for lack of vocabulary in this world, we have to call it meditation. Actually, you're just sitting there, receiving the grace of God and acknowledge your own supreme power. There's actually no meditation involved because anything that is earned or is the result of some kind of action is still the world production or within the material framework. Therefore, our meditation is a non-meditational meditation; it's an effortless meditation. [Applause]<sup>6</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Group meditation, Hsihu Center, Formosa, October 10, 1992 (Originally in Chinese).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Group meditation, Seattle, Washington D.C., U.S.A., April 7, 1993 (Originally in English).



# Humility is close to the Truth

Lowly people are very humble, pure and simple. They have nothing to lean on. They have nothing to grab or hang onto. They know they have nothing; therefore, their hearts are very pure and simple. Great blessing power can more easily enter an empty heart that is pure and simple.

### **Practice in silence**

There are many levels in spiritual practice and the road of cultivation is very long. So, as a new practitioner, one shouldn't boast and exaggerate. I tell you not to reveal your experiences to others for your own good, not for me. You can tell the whole country if you like, I won't be affected. You only hurt yourself by divulging your own treasures.

So, practice in silence; because we have to protect our level, and climb slowly to become Buddhas, Mahasattvas and superior Bodhisattvas (enlightened beings). If a new practitioner has some magical power, and goes out to advertise himself because he's not stable within, you should know this kind of person is unreliable.

Upon seeing such a person, an attained spiritual practitioner can tell that he or she is experiencing obstacles – suffering from the "Zen symptom" we often mention. People not suffering from the Zen symptom don't go out bragging.

Spiritual practitioners should be humble. The higher their level, the more humble they are and the more they fear that people may detect their level and power. Some people are all still okay in the initial stages of their practice. However, after attaining a trivial level and having some experiences, they brag everywhere. They talk so much that they run into many evil obstacles. The higher their level, the more evil obstacles there will be.

Therefore, the most terrible mistake in spiritual practice is talking about one's experiences. If one talks too much, the experiences become distorted in nature or they simply don't come anymore, leaving only illusions; because the concentrated power is wasted, and the spiritual ambience is damaged. Originally, the spiritual ambience is a protective wall. However, as one leaks out too much, the devil digs a hole in it and enters. In spiritual practice, we dread boasting and arrogant attitudes. The prouder one is, the greater his trouble.<sup>7</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Taipei, Formosa, December 17, 1986 (Originally in Chinese).

### Boasting of one's achievements ruins one's life

As I told you during the time of initiation, the king of maya, the king of illusion or the devil himself can manifest at any time exactly like the Buddha, a devil, an angel, God or any past, present or future saint in order to mislead the sincere, careless or less vigilant, less careful practitioner. In a Buddhist sutra, it mentions the fifty kinds of traps that the devil often uses to waylay the practitioner, to lead him astray. Well, there's no need to even know many things about the devil. Just remain pure, sincere and honest with yourself; and then you'll never fall into any traps, be in any trouble, and no one can ever trick you, not even the king of devils himself.

Should we desire fame and profit, or a high position, even in the spiritual hierarchy, we'll often fall into the trap of the negative force because that's just what they wait for; they wait for us to be caught off guard and then they brainwash us into believing that we've already become Buddha, that we're great, that we have a mission, that we're this, that and the other. Then we become proud. We become trapped in the field of false pride, of arrogance and we're finished. Yes, maybe we can come back again to humility and to continuing the practice as before, but it might be very difficult then. We might be led too far away, and then coming back, takes a long time. We waste a lot of our effort and time. So, as practitioners, we can't afford to be careless, to be proud of our practice or to want to quick spiritual position in the spiritual world.

Many people meditate just a little bit, don't even keep the precepts very well, their vegetarian diet is so-so, they just have a few misleading visions and they believe that they've become masters and Buddhas. You can become what you wish to become. You can boast of your achievements but the fruits speak for themselves. Sometimes it ruins our life. We ruin ourselves and then it's too late to be able to get back to where we were before. So, humility is very important in spiritual practice. We must be humble within ourselves, not that we only act humble. Sometimes people don't act very humbly, but inside they're humble. Some people play humble; but, in fact, inside they're very, very arrogant. Sometimes the outward appearance misleads people.<sup>8</sup>

### Story about Master Lin Chi

There is also another story about Master Lin Chi, of China. When Master Lin Chi was still a student, he always slept. He slept everywhere. One day he was sleeping in the meditation hall in one corner, and he saw his Master come in. Pretending to be afraid, he took his cushion and sleeping bag and went to the other corner to hide, and slept again. The Master knew Lin Chi; they knew each other very well. So, the Master went straight to the meditation hall and saw a monk who was sitting there meditating, and the Master kicked him, saying, "You, sleeping monk! What are you pretending to do? You should learn how to meditate like Lin Chi over there!" [Laughter]

The monk couldn't believe it. And you know how the monk sat? With all the robes, and dignified, and in front of a Buddha statue, and still he got kicked in the bottom. [Laughter] Burning one incense stick in front, he never moved until the incense was all burned. But he

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> International four-day retreat, Hsihu Center, Formosa, February 20, 1996 (Originally in English).

was moving inside. Therefore, Lin Chi was covered with his sleeping bag, but the Master said that Lin Chi was meditating and that the sitting monk was sleeping. You understand? It's different levels.

Yes, Lin Chi slept, but he never slept. He only slept with the body. His mind was always illuminated. Whatever he did, he was always centered in the self. He never deviated from the center. But that monk who sat there like a wooden block, his mind was going in all directions, and he couldn't do anything. So, try to be centered, and do not criticize other peoples' appearances. The fellow practitioners, some of them are not the way they look. <sup>9</sup>

#### The more arrogant we are, the further we are from the Truth

The humble are very close to God and the saints. The pure-hearted are closer to the Truth. The more arrogant we are, the further we are from the Truth. Why are we so far away from the Truth? Because we rely on the world! If we did not rely on the world, we would not be proud. If we rely on money, power, intellect or social status, we're relying on the world and the ephemeral. The Truth is not of this world, nor is it ephemeral. Therefore, the more we rely on this side, the farther we are from the other side. That's a logical explanation and shouldn't be difficult to understand.

Those who have no money or power, those who are advanced in years and uncared for, are more humble. Therefore, you often find me being very good to those people and the prison inmates. I'm not very nice to you sometimes. I'm sorry about that, but that's the way it is. I don't treat them well intentionally, or treat you less kindly deliberately. I'm just a mirror that reflects how you are. Don't blame the way I treat you, or compare: "Why is Master so nice to that person but not so nice to me?" If I'm good to someone, you just need to take a look at him and you'll know why. He's not necessarily more handsome than you are. No! Maybe all his teeth have fallen out and he doesn't have a single relative or friend. Maybe he doesn't have a penny and I even give him money. But I'm good to him because he's pure and humble at heart. He's not tainted. He doesn't have obstructions before him, nor an attachment or something to rely on. His heart is infinitely vast. He's almost one with the universe.

If we have something to rely on, that's limiting ourselves – we become the official, the virtuous person or the one with the Truth. We still have a boundary with one corner unopened. The humble and the pure don't have anything to rely on. To have nothing is to have everything.<sup>10</sup>

#### Become more humble and dare not to criticize others

Just look at your spiritual diary each day and see if the things you've done are good. If the good deeds are few and the bad ones are many, and if we're full of greed, anger and hatred, then we know that we should be ashamed of ourselves. Then, gradually, we'll become more humble and not dare to criticize others because we can see that we're charcoal black. If our own feet are soaked in mud, how can we dare to use a torch to shine on others' feet. So, our ego is lessened.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Group meditation, Costa Rica, June 2, 1991 (Originally in English).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Group meditation, Hsihu Center, Formosa, August 13, 1989 (Originally in Chinese).

Otherwise, you can stay here. I'll give you a few scoldings each day and your ego will be fine because you have nowhere to hide in here. I'll pick out your shortcomings every day and elaborate on them over and over again, then you'll not dare to be egotistical anymore. But humility and self-interiority are two different things. The so-called inferiority complex is different. It means that one feels he's very lowly and useless. I yell and scold at you, but within that there's love, support and blessing.

But, in the outside world, people oppress you because of fame or wealth. For their own interests, they make our lives very miserable, break our hearts into pieces and totally crush our self-confidence.

So, the two kinds of reprimands are different. One is in competition with us and the other is to help us eliminate our egos. In scoldings of the latter type, there's hidden love. So, sometimes we feel that there's a kind of soothing fragrance, a soothing, compassionate atmosphere. And, even though you've been scolded, you always seem to miss that person. You can't forget Her, nor can you hate Her. But in the outside world, even though people might use sweet talk, we may still fear them. We fear that they might conjure up a plan to cheat us. We feel that they're frightening as if they have a knife in hiding ready to use on us.<sup>11</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Group meditation, Hsihu Center, Formosa, October 10, 1990 (Originally in Aulacese).



# Those with a pure heart progress more quickly

The best and purest motive will attract all the goodness in the universe, all the purest things, even more than we can ask for.

If our heart is kind, we can easily be one with all things and can easily be in touch with God. If our heart is separated, then it's like we have a wall built around us. That's why it's not just because we are nearby a Master that our heart is very near to Her. If our heart wants to be near, even if we're one million miles away, there doesn't seem to be any distance at all. If we're at Her side but our heart is not with Her, then we will be very far away indeed.

Why is it that people with a pure heart and a simple mind progress so quickly in spiritual practice? It's because the "dumb" people don't know how to argue. They're like children; they believe in me completely without any doubts. We have many such people here. This is why they progress so quickly. They might not look distinguished on the outside, but they truly like me, have the strongest faith in me, and care about me the most. Whatever I say, they listen to. They have no doubts about me on the inside, neither are they against me on the outside. When you see these people, you can tell they progress very quickly.

There are other people who seem very obedient and respectful to me, but after talking to them for a while, you will realize that they have a big ego, and they don't completely believe in me. Sometimes, they will even say it. When you meet more people, you'll learn how to tell apart those who truly understand my teachings and have complete faith in me. But you can't tell from their appearance.

Whether you progress quickly or slowly in your spiritual practice doesn't depend on Master alone. How much you progress also depends on how much you believe in Master and how you react to Master. Let me tell you a secret tip on how to make progress in spiritual practice, but don't tell anyone else. [Laughter and applause.]

### Hindered by a wall of coldness

Whether we progress quickly or slowly depends on the purity of our hearts. Sometimes we would very much like to be pure, but we can't. This is because we sowed a cold heart through

our past karma, and now we're hindered by this wall of coldness. We simply can't believe in the Master completely, and we can't devote our body, speech and mind completely to the Master.

Some people practice very diligently. They meditate four or five hours every day. But their heart is still attached to the world. They still want fame and fortune. As a result, they can't make any progress. They might need to be reincarnated one more time because they still want to stay in this world. For those people, I have to make them come back one more time and let them learn with another master so that they can progress. Some of our fellow initiates here had already learned the Quan Yin method in their previous lives. However, they only went halfway because they were still attached to this world. Or perhaps they weren't sincere enough; they still doubted the Master so they had to come back again.

This is just like the story I told you before. There's a person who wrote a letter to me, telling me that after initiation he prayed to me and recited my name sincerely every day. He truly believed in me. He made a lot of progress in only two months. He could go to the brightest realm during meditation. But later, he started to doubt me. He recalled that his previous master had told him if his spirit left his body during meditation he would be possessed by demons. So, he started to doubt my teachings and the method I taught. As a result, his level fell right away. Until now, he still can't move back up. So, you can see how big an obstacle maya can create for us.<sup>12</sup>

### People who are pure in their hearts get to God quickly

The people who are pure in their hearts are more simple. They get to God quickly because they don't have too much thinking and too many comparisons or too many studies to overcome. The more intellectual people, or sometimes the more accomplished people are more complicated because they have to be in a certain kind of field to succeed. So, they become habitual in thinking, analyzing the pros and cons and successes and failures: "If I sit in meditation, what do I get from God? Do I get anything at all? Is that worth it? You know, time is money!" [Laughter] It's like that sometimes. And then subconsciously, we obstruct ourselves from the way to heaven. That's what we call ego but actually, there is none. <sup>13</sup>

### Always keep the heart innocent like a child

The simple people will all attain the Truth. The most important thing is a pure heart, a heart that does not discriminate, a heart that does not differentiate between pain and happiness.

Do you know what the Zen Master Seng Tsan (third patriarch of Zen) said? "It is very difficult for those people with hearts that discriminate to find the great path." What he meant is that those people with equality, simplicity and contentment in their hearts are able to find the Truth more easily.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Group meditation, Hsihu Center, Formosa, October 29, 1988 (Originally in Chinese).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Group meditation, Hawaii, U.S.A., September 6, 1994 (Originally in English).

Lao Tzu also said that one can only reach the Tao when one becomes like a child. And Jesus Christ said that unless you become innocent like a child, you cannot enter the kingdom of God. So, Buddhism and Taoism say the same thing, and the bible says similar things.

Islamism also says the same. Islamism teaches its followers not to criticize others. No matter how that person is, it is God's will for him to be so. The meaning is that we should be like children and not criticize others. Then, it is right!<sup>14</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Ping Tung, Formosa, December 1, 1988 (Originally in Chinese).



# Most of you find trouble and hinder yourself. You don't allow yourself to develop and relax. Not being relaxed, your thoughts are blocked; thus your deeds are not perfect.

In this world, we can't be too impatient. When we want something, we should try not to want it, and then it will become ours. This is very strange. The more we want something, the further it will be from our reach. The same is true for enlightenment and attainment of the Truth. By no means should we push God anxiously and nervously to let us become saints. Instead, we should remain calm and cool, and just fulfill our daily obligations.

# **Real meditation**

All of you are attached to visions in meditation, considering them to be real spiritual experiences, and visions that you see when you're not meditating just don't count. But actually, at that moment you're really meditating, because "Zen prevails in everything." Meditation doesn't mean that we sit tight and regulate ourselves. That's the incorrect way because at that time, we meditate with our ego, and that's why we have no experiences. We should do it in a natural way in order to attain enlightenment.

If you're as relaxed in your meditation as when you see me, that's real meditation. We've heard the story about someone becoming enlightened while chopping logs, and another case about someone else getting enlightened upon hearing a few words from an enlightened Master. That's it. Why don't you have an experience after hours of sitting vexed in meditation? It's because you do it with your ego, your mind. You focus your attention too hard; you push yourselves too much, so you become attached and nervous. That's why you have no experiences. That's not real meditation. It's just a kind of drill.

Real meditation takes place at any time. That's why some of you have good experiences when you're asleep or when you look at me attentively. That's meditation, for your attention is focused at that time. You concentrate because you're delighted to see me or listen to me, and you put aside your prejudices at that time. That's when you meditate, isn't it? That's when you have a normal experience.

Suppose you sit there with your brows knit, thinking, "I want to meditate. Oh! How come I have no experience? Why hasn't it come yet? Oh! When will it come?" [Laughter] You're rushing yourself. But these experiences never hurry. They come as they may, and go as they want. They don't attach to anything; as the Diamond sutra says, enlightenment comes when we don't attach to anything. We should follow this paragon of spirituality in order to attain enlightenment.

# The pure land is right in front of us

When you gaze at me in a very pure state of mind without the slightest disturbance, you have all the experiences that you should have. Some of you, while attending my lectures, have seen the lecture hall turn into a world of extremely brilliant Light. That's the pure land. That's what's meant by the saying, "The pure land is right in front of us." Our world is a physical one, but when we concentrate spiritually, it becomes the pure land at once, and devils can become saints in our eyes.

Some of you complain to me that you don't have such good experiences after you join group meditation. Actually, that's because your ego has come out and your love has diminished. The fellow initiates are not affecting you. You shouldn't blame others; instead, you should introspect on yourselves. That's why I don't like those who complain; it's just that I don't say so. These people expect me to blame others, but I won't be biased.

Some of you have many things on your minds when you look at me. You look at me as if you aren't really looking. Then you'd better not look! Even as you look at me, many things are going on in your minds. You're wondering whether you should recite the holy names, as if you want to drive me away. [Laughter] If you should remember to do that while looking at me, it means you want to drive me away quickly and that makes me feel uncomfortable. You should look at me like a child who hasn't seen his parents for a long time, and then you'll have inner experiences, which will be the best that you can have.

We shouldn't think that we only meditate when we close our eyes and sit there vexed with our brows knit. No, no! That's just a kind of practice. We sit quietly to express our sincerity. Although we can't sit peacefully sometimes, we continue. We wait for God in our meditation. Sometimes we have experiences when we're sincere, but sometimes we can't concentrate and say to ourselves: "Well, whether I'm sincere or not, that's all I can do for now. Please help me, God."

Therefore, we should meditate every day and consider it a duty, just like we eat even when we don't want to. We should make it a habit to think of God as soon as we wake up in the morning and think of God again after we get off work and return home in the evening. Because we're too busy every day, we can't think of God sincerely; therefore, we should do it early in the morning after we get up, and again in the evening after we return home. But this doesn't mean that we can think of God completely; we just do our best. We should do it when we're working as well.

### Experiencing enlightenment during Master's lectures

So, it's our greatest blessing and merit to listen to a lecture by an enlightened Master. Because we can see the Master continuously for two or three hours, we can be elevated by Her vibration, or our bad karma can be cleansed to some degree by Her Light, and then we'll have inner experiences. When you come here, you can't see me continuously for two or three hours so you don't get as much blessing as you would at a lecture. It's such a great blessing to be able to see an enlightened Master for two or three hours at a stretch! Not everyone has this chance. One glance in eons is good enough, not to mention two to three hours! Beings on some other planets have never seen or heard an enlightened Master before. They've had no contact with a Master. Therefore, you should seize the opportunity to see a real Master for a couple of hours. Many people, initiates or non-initiates, have experienced enlightenment during my lectures.

So, meditation doesn't mean only sitting. It's meditation when we wholeheartedly concentrate. That's why you have experiences when you're working. Sometimes we have no experience in meditation and we feel frustrated because we meditate with our ego. That's not the natural way to meditate. But it's okay. You still get merit. Just meditate sincerely. The result doesn't matter.

Let me tell you why you don't have inner experiences when you meditate. It's because you're not completely free of attachment at that time, and you're not really concentrating. We think we are, and we frown and wonder, "Why hasn't the manifestation form of the Master come?" Sincerity and longing are different from attachment. However, it's difficult for beginners to distinguish between them. It doesn't matter. Just do your best. It counts as long as you intentionally meditate and think of the Master, no matter whether you meditate well or not, or are distracted or not. Your efforts will be recorded and you'll be elevated on any excuse. [Applause]

For example, you work for someone who sells clothes. Sometimes there are no customers, and you sit there and fall asleep. But the boss still pays you for the time you stay. At other times you're busy the whole day long, and the boss pays you the same. As long as you come to the store, you get your monthly salary. It's the same with meditation. You should meditate, regardless of the experience. Your efforts will be recorded and I'll "pay" you someday so that you can pay your "fare" to heaven. [Applause]<sup>15</sup>

### Living a balanced life is the Tao

You should pursue spiritual practice in a moderate way. It's okay to become a saint tomorrow, so why must you rush to make it today? You've waited for many lifetimes, so what is the big deal in waiting just a few more days? The more anxious you are, the more you obstruct yourself.

In ancient times, there was a person who followed an enlightened Master to practice. One day, he asked his master, "Master, how many sincere persons like me can you find in this world?" His master replied, "The universe is full of disciples like you." [Master and audience

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Seven-day retreat, Ilan, Formosa, August 12-18, 1988 (Originally in Chinese).

laugh.] Still skeptical, the disciple asked again, "Master, I'm truly sincere. If I were to renounce everything, including my parents, wife, children, relatives, and friends, then how many years of practice would I take to reach sainthood?" His master told him, "If you're diligent, you can achieve it in five to fifteen years." The disciple asked further, "That's too slow. If I refrain from eating and drinking, and even skip sleeping, and only meditate with my legs crossed twentyfour hours a day, when do you think I can become a saint?" His master said, "In this way, perhaps it will take you thirty to fifty years to become a saint." [Master and audience laugh.] Do you know why? He was being too anxious. Who did he think he was? Who cares whether he becomes a saint or not? Who would need a person like him?

### The best way is the middle way

Shakyamuni Buddha used to have a disciple who didn't sleep even at night. It seemed that he meditated in the day and chanted the sutras at night, until later his eyes almost became blind. Shakyamuni Buddha told him, "The way you practice will soon make you maya instead of a saint. When you play the zither, and the strings are stretched too tightly, can they produce any sound?" The disciple answered, "No!" "And if the strings are too loose, will any sound come out?" He said, "No, none." Then Shakyamuni Buddha said, "The best way is the middle way."

Therefore, a balanced life is the Truth; an ordinary mind is the Truth. We should not crave anything. Craving to become a saint quickly is also a kind of greediness. We ought to be moderate in whatever we do. How can you demand a newborn baby to ride a bicycle? You may be anxious to see him grow up and become a capable person, but you must not rush him. He can't even walk steadily, so how can you ask him to run? Even if he forces himself to run, he'll soon fall down. When a toddler learning to walk tries to run, won't he fall down in just a few steps? As a result, he'll break his nose and injure his body, all because he's too anxious.

### First take good care of our mind

We should first take good care of our mind. Check whether or not we have a pure and noble ideal, that we have reined in our greed, wrath and infatuation, that we're loving and patient enough to others, that we're magnanimous, understanding and generous enough to tolerate others' mistakes. When we've achieved all these things, it is still not too late to become an enlightened Master or saint. Before we've reached perfection, who can benefit from our becoming an enlightened Master? We have not yet erased our guilty feelings, or cleared up our preconceptions and ignorance. Being still very narrow-minded, we can't tolerate many people. Our love is still too insignificant to love a lot of people. Then what's the benefit of rushing to become an enlightened Master? Even if all the saints and Masters pour all of their power into such a narrow-minded, agitated and ignorant person, what's the use?

Endowed with power but not love, one will become maya. There's no significant difference between maya and a saint. Both have similar power, but the saint has love, which maya lacks. Maya is very selfish, demands everything and takes all. He only criticizes and never forgives. The saint not only criticizes, but he also forgives. He criticizes when it's the right time to do so, in order to help people progress, and let them realize their own shortcomings. When it's time to forgive, he will, giving people due encouragement to live on, without being burdened by heavy feelings of guilt.

### One must be balanced in yin and yang to become a saint

To really become a saint, we have to be perfect in every aspect, not just a particular aspect. If we're only magnanimous, but never criticize, then it's also no good! For instance, if at times when you should criticize and educate people, you praise them instead, you only spoil them and ruin their judgment ability in spiritual practice. That's why I say, "One must be balanced in yin (negative) and yang (positive) to become a saint." We should penetrate all aspects of this world. Living in the world, we still need to eat, sleep and interact with people; therefore, we ought to be normal. As to our inner level or spiritual progress, we should just keep it to ourselves, and refrain from revealing it through our outer deportment. <sup>16</sup>

# Don't be attached to results

We can't reach heaven in one step. It's the same for our spiritual practitioners. As long as we practice diligently every day, when the time comes, we'll get results naturally. It's just like raising our children: As long as we take good care of them every day, they'll grow up themselves. When we look back, we say, "Wow, they've grown so tall!" Some are even taller than the parents. Then all of a sudden, our hair has started to turn white, and we don't remember since when. Even I have grown a few pieces of white hair! [Laughter] I've counted – there are three. [Master and audience laugh.] So, don't worry if you don't see any results. Just continue practicing diligently and don't be attached to the results.

Some fellow initiates told me that they had not seen any visions in their meditation. I said there was no use in seeing visions. If our mind is getting more stable, if we feel more secure, if we have faith and happiness, and if we feel the protection of God's power, then we've already had the most precious experiences. Seeing Light and having visions are nothing. There are some people who have visions in meditation, but their mind is still not stable, and they lack faith. And then they drop out of our group. Some people have very strong faith in me. They know that following me is the right way. They focus their minds on this method, and they don't go astray. Such people have the most superior experiences. [Applause] Therefore, when you listen to other initiates talking about their visions, don't get upset. [Laughter and applause.] When we feel peaceful and secure, we're having the best experience. However, if you haven't heard the inner Sound, it's not easy for you to feel peaceful and secure. It's not easy.<sup>17</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Group meditation, Hsihu Center, Formosa, October 19, 1990 (Originally in Chinese).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Seven-day retreat, Hsihu Center, Formosa, July 29 – August 6, 1989 (Originally in Chinese).



We have to look at the bright side of the sun, in the bright side of the corner. Okay, now, that's one of my secret teachings imparted to you. You know, that's how we keep happy and contented, and develop our creative talent and our positive, happy nature. We can't always expect things to come out the way we want. But we should accept things as God arranged them. That's always fun and surprising and tasty, you know? It makes life more interesting.

When you smile, your whole being smiles too; and your level of consciousness automatically rises up to some extent. So, smile a lot. Smile during times of both happiness and sorrow. Cry when you must, but smile when you cry as well. Let the tears fall but then smile in your heart. Try to smile whenever you can.

# The "Religion of laughter"

I've heard that laughter is good medicine that can cure any disease. There's a Chinese saying, "One should laugh heartily three times a day." So, how many times have you laughed today? [Laughter] Too many times to count? No wonder some people accuse me of not being serious enough. [Master and audience laugh.] They say instead of expounding only holy scriptures, I tell jokes all the time. This is because we're a sect specializing in jokes. [Laughter] So, if anyone asks you what sect you are from, just tell them that we belong to the "Religion of laughter!" [Master and audience laugh.] [Applause] If a Buddha is miserable, then he's a miserable Buddha. He's useless. What good is it to become a Buddha if he can't even laugh?

In the West, there's also a saying, "A saint who is miserable, is a miserable saint."

### We can measure our level by our laughter

Therefore, we can tell how high our level is by looking at how much we laugh every day. [Master and audience laugh.] We can measure our level by our laughter, and we don't have to wait to find out after we start practicing the Quan Yin method with a Master. Those who can't laugh are miserable saints. They're too serious. They're not open enough.

Sometimes you ask me, "Why can't the monks and nuns from other temples laugh? They all look so serious and so miserable." It's because they're "miserable saints." They have nothing to laugh at because their hearts are not open.

The more we do our spiritual practice, the more light-hearted we become. We become very open-minded. We feel there is nothing worth picking on, and we don't care about whether things are good or bad. That's why being a Master is so difficult: She has to fix people's shortcomings even though these things don't matter to Her. She doesn't mind anything anymore, so how can She still do this job? It is so troublesome and so tiring. She has to force Herself to do things She doesn't like to do.

In the past when I lived alone, I was very happy. I wanted nothing and needed nothing. Now I have a lot of disciples and my trouble has increased as well. [Laughter] It's true! You all bring your troubles to me and tell me about them. Each one of you tells me a different kind of problem. [Master and audience laugh.] When I see you being so miserable, I worry about you and try to reduce your pain. As a result, I'm dragged down by you. I can only recover after I've solved all your problems because I'm one with you.

For those who are parents, don't you suffer when your child is sick? [Audience: Yes.] Right. You can't sleep. You sit beside your child, comforting him, fanning him, and taking care of him. You can't sleep or eat and you look very pale. You blame yourself for not being able to take over your child's sickness or to share his suffering. It's not that you get sick yourself. It's just that you feel the same pain as the child even though you're healthy yourself. You feel sad because your child feels so small and so weak, and he continually cries because he can't tell you where his pain is. Isn't it so? [Audience: Yes.]

Even worldly parents are like this, let alone the spiritual parent of practitioners. She truly cries for us. But if the situation is already very painful, and you allow yourself to become miserable, how can you continue to live? So, we should always look at the bright side of things. I always tell jokes to make you laugh because by nature I like to laugh. We have to laugh whenever we can because it's not easy to laugh in this world! [Master and audience laugh.] [Applause] If you come here to spend time with me and still can't laugh, then you're hopeless. You're beyond cure. You'll never be able to find happiness anywhere.

Therefore, if you want to become a Buddha, you should remember when you come here, you're going to be a "laughing Buddha." Even if you can't become a Buddha, at least you can become a deity – a "laughing deity." [Master and audience laugh.] If we don't have an open heart and tolerant attitude, what good is it to become a Buddha?

#### We become very expansive, like the air, like the ocean

The more we practice, the more relaxed we are. We don't have any guilty feelings. Nothing can bind us, and no preconceived concepts can oppress us. We become very expansive, like the air, like the ocean. We're not limited by any biases or bound by any traditions or customs.

Our hearts become wide open. That's why it's easy for us to laugh. We can laugh even if there's no reason to laugh because we're so happy inside. <sup>18</sup>

#### The land of laughter

After some times of more effort and sincerity, God will take us to the land of laughter. That's where we have a lot of jokes and everything is funny to us. There are no more miserable Buddhas, there are no serious saints that walk around trying to show people that they've worked hard, that they're devoted to Master, that they love Master so much that they have to jump in front of everyone just to see the Master, et cetera. That's why you've often heard that most Masters have a lot of humor; they can laugh at everyone, even God and themselves. That's the landmark of an enlightened person. They've arrived at the land of laughter because they know everything is really just a game.<sup>19</sup>

#### We practice hard only to reach the point of relaxation

If I die, I will die laughing; that's the truth. When we understand the truth, we can have fun from all sides; that's why we shouldn't stop laughing under any circumstances.

Actually, we practice hard only to reach the point of relaxation so that we can enjoy what we are and what we have in any circumstances. Then we can open our hearts and tolerate anything, and we can feel the God nature in all beings so we don't look down upon anyone. We might look down their habits or their accumulated bad manners, but we don't look down upon them. Even if we don't like their habits, we like the person all the time.<sup>20</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Seven-day retreat, Hsihu Center, Formosa, July 29 – August 6, 1989 (Originally in Chinese).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> International seven-day retreat, Phnom Penh, Cambodia, May 14, 1996 (Originally in English).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> International seven-day retreat, Pingtung, Formosa, December 24, 1992 (Originally in English).



Love your family

God is not so narrow-minded as to forbid us to love our husband or wife the way we used to. God is not so cruel as to separate loving couples in order to attain Hirm. We must enlarge our hearts to love God and also to include other beings, including our own family members. If we can love other beings who are distant from us and strangers to us, why can we not love our family members, our immediate loved ones?

There is good in both marriage and friendship in this world. The greatest advantage is that we can provide mutual help and remind each other of the self nature within and of the importance of spiritual practice. If there is any situation or relationship that can always remind us of spiritual practice and the self nature inside, it's a good relationship, with good affection and emotion.

#### **Protect your emotions**

When I talk to you about marriage and love, please don't think that I'm going beyond my responsibility. No! I do it because you cannot go into samadhi in your meditation if you don't have a happy marriage or good relations with your spouse. You feel inner anguish and emotional turmoil. Your mind is filled with all those things. You can't even recite the holy names, not to mention entering samadhi! At that time your partner is more important than the Master. But I don't blame you because such things are unavoidable. At that moment, you don't even want to go into nirvana. Even if you do, you can't because you're unhappy. I've gone through all this before, so I can be your Teacher now. Such situations are difficult to avoid and control.

Of course, when we progress spiritually, we know how to deal with our loving marital relationships. However, there are some fellow practitioners who feel emotionally depressed and miserable inside. Therefore, I have to talk to you about worldly affairs because they're related to spiritual practice. When you're happy, you're nirvana. No matter who comes to you, you feel happy, and you can love anyone or forgive anyone or give anything to anyone. But when you're not happy, you don't want to do anything or take any responsibility. You can't even do so if you want to, because you don't have the inspiration to do so. At that time, you

are tired of everything and want to forget the whole world. That's why there's a saying that goes, "The dharma exists in worldly affairs." Am I right? [Audience: Yes.] That's it. You have all experienced it.

Therefore, I often say that if you want to proceed smoothly along the spiritual path, you have to protect your emotions and your marriage. Those of you who are still single should protect your relationships with your loved ones as well if you truly love each other. It will be too late if you try to make amends once you break up. Beautiful times don't last forever. You don't always meet someone you really love and want to share your life with. So, take care once you find him or her.

Don't think that this is a trivial or worldly affair. No, no! People often feel lonely without a companion. Some can bear it, but most can't. So, take care to protect it if you still need it.

Even small pearls are protected and cherished as treasures, let alone love! It could be very helpful to you. Though you should not be attached to it, you cannot ignore it, either. A car may not be a person like you are, or a part of you, but you still need it to come to Hsihu. It would be too inconvenient and time-consuming to come on foot. You can't say, "I come to Hsihu to practice spiritually and get enlightenment. Why do I need a car? It's only a physical vehicle. Just abandon it by the roadside!" You can't do that. It takes you here in much less time and brings you to me more quickly. You can save much time for meditation. Of course, you can come on foot, but that would take you several months, and I would have probably left by the time you arrived.<sup>21</sup>

#### Turn your family environment into a heaven

Some spiritual practitioners are very contented, lively and at ease because nothing is stuck in their minds. They're more ingenuous, and don't feel any restrictions or pressure. Therefore, they don't need much sleep, and still remain very relaxed and energetic. It truly is so.

If you recall, when we're happy, cheerful, no matter for what reasons, no matter if we're with friends, husband, wife or children, we can chat happily all through the night. Even though we've only slept for one or two hours, we still feel that we're full of energy. But when we're miserable, carrying a guilty conscience, or when karma comes, we feel very, very tired, no matter how much we've slept. That's why I told you this morning to relax, relax and relax!

Love your family, truly love them, and they will love you, too. Then, due to this love, we will feel very lively and happy. It will be easy for us to accept people from outside, and to love others. Try it when you return home. This is the path to being happy. [Applause]

Most people owe their success in their career to having a secure family. Members of their families have more affection for each other. They are more united and cooperative, and not complicated. Both the husband and wife create a harmonious atmosphere so they are not easily affected by trials outside. They're also not easily troubled. When we're happy, we don't mind about others' mistakes as much. We're not concerned or troubled.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> Seven-day retreat, Hsihu Center, Formosa, May 5-12, 1991 (Originally in Chinese).

If we refuse the love from our families, refuse the love from people close to us, then we won't be successful in whatever we do. We will feel so miserable that we can't bear even ourselves, and of course, we can't bear other people.

The disorders and troubles in society all come from dissonance at home. It's because we don't have good friends who are willing to make sacrifices, to offer sympathy to each other, accept each other, and respect each other. We don't have anyone who truly knows us well and can be a friend for life. Understand? [Audience: Yes.]

That was why I said not to turn your home into a hell. Because we live in it, we need to look after it, organize it, repair it, make it look beautiful and turn it into a heaven. It's not out of compassion or brotherly love that we love others. We love others because we want to be comfortable and happy. The more we offer our love to others, the more others will love us. When all the people love each other, how comfortable that will be!<sup>22</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Seven-day retreat, Hsihu Center, Formosa, July 29 – August 6, 1989 (Originally in Chinese).



### The ego and Sound meditation

## We should think more positively, optimistically and courageously. Then it will become a habit; for everything is created by the mind.

#### Real meditation takes place at any time.

Where does the ego come from? We can say the ego is a kind of personality, a personal mental attitude. Where does the personality come from? The personality is nothing great; it's not our original self; or is it our enlightened God nature. It's just our personality, born from habits that are continuously accumulated. Each time we're born, whether as a human, a wild animal, a heavenly being, a hell being, a domestic animal or a demon, we possess certain habits. Each kind of being has its own particular habits and they're all learned.

In the past we collected many habits. As we transmigrate we collect and record far too many vicious actions, just as on a recording tape. When the button is pressed, it plays back. And what's this button? It's the opportunities or occasions we encounter that turn the recordings on automatically.

So, sometimes we're very fierce to people, but we don't know why. It's because the button has been pressed. A particular person happens to say something that we'd heard in the past when those words upset us. Now when we hear something similar, we immediately get upset. Or perhaps in previous lives when we were humans or animals, someone set traps for us. Now whenever we see something that resembles such traps, just in appearance, we become afraid. We have no idea why a particular kind of box terrifies us. Some boxes look similar to the traps that we encountered in our past lives so we dread and abhor them. That's why some people prefer round furniture, or hate square furniture or like triangular furniture. This is all related to past life impressions.

The conditions that we like, dislike, abhor or love constitute what's called the ego. "I" only like it this way; this suits "my" taste – this is called "ego." The "ego" means the personality. Such and such is "my" habit; this is what "I" think; "I" can't change; "I" don't want to change, or this is what "I" am and "I" can't change! This is called the ego, but in fact, the ego is the personality; it's nothing mysterious or incomprehensible.

Each time we perform an action or learn a new idea, a new channel is created in our brains for storing the new material. This is for storing animosity, that's for love, this is for jealousy,

and that's for fame and profit. Each spot is taken up by a different quality. The more habits we have, the more boxes or channels fill our brains.

Originally, these boxes or channels can disintegrate by themselves. It's very simple. If there's nothing inside, they'll fuse together and be reduced to nothing. However, there's a substance called "gray matter" in our brains that fills these channels or boxes. All new ideas and actions are registered in the gray matter, which fills up the empty channels in the brain, much like a computer that maintains records exclusively.

#### Only the vibration of Sound meditation can cleanse karma

We can never erase the things or qualities that we've newly learned. So, we have to practice the Quan Yin method to flush away the bad habits inside. There's no other way to cleanse them! You've often heard about brainwashing a person, but brainwashing with words is not thorough enough. Our brains are very small, yet they can record everything, in infinite volumes. That's the trouble. Having recorded too much, they can't be erased quickly enough. We have distracting thoughts every day, all because we record too many things.

The Quan Yin method isn't words; it's the vibrations, the electric current, the God-power that cleanses our distracting thoughts and wrong ideas. It doesn't add any channels or boxes inside us. That's because, if we want to use a certain thought to eliminate another thought, there will be resistance. It doesn't mean the old thought is cleansed! No. We're simply adding another one. Consequently, it becomes more crowded and we become more agitated. Therefore, all great spiritual Masters say, "The more learned and knowledgeable one is, the more difficult it is for one to attain the Truth." We simply heap things up within us, squeezing them together until nothing can develop. Good and bad things mingle together. The good things can't develop, and the bad things can't be cleansed; it becomes heavily congested. Now you understand why the more learned one is, the more difficult it is to become enlightened!

So, only the Quan Yin method is logical. For it's not Zen riddles or some kind of chant, which will only add more to our brains. Instead, we cleanse it. That's why I tell you that although I've instructed you to recite the holy names and meditate on the Light, it's not effective if you don't practice Sound meditation. This is so because chanting the holy names and meditating on the Light also add extra things, although these additives can control other things and make us forget worldly vexations. Suppose we're angry with someone and want to get even or scold him. Now when we recite the holy names, we forget the hostility. It means that we can use these benevolent holy names to control our distracting thoughts and stop them from troubling us. It doesn't mean that they've vanished, or been cleansed by chanting the holy names every day, to control the distracting thoughts. After that, we should use the Sound meditation to erase them, including the holy names! [Applause] I'm very glad that you understand.

Now you know what the ego is and how to eliminate it. Don't allow your ego to grow stronger and confine you like a wall. As such, you'll believe that you're this person and this is what you are. That's the ego. You'll just carry on and do the same wrong things, and subsequently, you'll become even worse. If no one stops it for you, you'll become worse. You'll think that it's fine and feel happy about it. Finally, it will become a habit, just like smoking and drinking. Though you know that it's bad for your body, you'll still become heavily addicted to the habit as you drink more and smoke more.

This is why we must learn to be humble. We shouldn't add more to the habits that we've accumulated through many lifetimes, and we shouldn't let them grow stronger until they become irreparable later. We already have a great many bad habits. If we don't minimize them but add more, how can we handle them? There's no way to minimize them even if we want to. When can we finish reducing them? We've collected so much. It's already difficult enough for us to avoid getting more, not to mention that we need to erase those firm habits, and even traditions, that we've gathered through many lifetimes! That's why we have to use this supra-worldly power, the vibrations of the Sound meditation, to cleanse them quickly. Ordinary brainwashing is useless. Only practicing the Sound meditation is the true "brainwashing."

You ask me how to avoid the ego. I advise you to do more Sound meditation. If you're aware, endeavor to check and control yourself. Don't add more to or repeat the habit. If you can avoid it, then stop. If we're not aware of our ego, there's nothing we can do. That's even worse. We must do more Sound meditation! Do more Sound meditation! Do more Sound meditation! It cleanses us automatically; there's no other way. [Applause] Now you realize that the Quan Yin method is truly great! Without it, we can never cleanse our myriad habits!<sup>23</sup>

#### The method that can cleanse generations of genetic traces

Human beings have continued to do many bad things since time immemorial. So, it's very difficult to erase bad references from within the DNA, and sometimes we're born into a body that's imprinted by much good and bad information, which we've helplessly inherited. We can't do anything about it except that if we meditate, we can cleanse it and erase it so that it leaves no trace. If we can erase something every day, no trace of this negativity will be left within our cells. Then we can do good things.

That's why even though you have the God nature and you have God within you, you still have to fight with these imprints of the DNA in your cells. That's why you work slowly; that's why you're bad and that's why you do negative things sometimes even against your own will. So, even if we want to do good, without meditation or without God's power to cleanse these imprints of the cells' DNA, we can't do much.

That's why the world is like this. That's why many people want to do good but can't struggle against these negative traces, which are already born before we even come into this body. They're already there. Now you understand why you must meditate and be vegetarian so that you don't have more of the negative traces adding to your own already bad DNA. You have enough of the bad; there's no need for extra.

Even if you can't meditate for very long, that's also DNA. You probably got a body that never meditated in the last life. Maybe from your great, great, great grandparents down, no one ever meditated in your family. Also sometimes you can't be born into the proper family because they always take pills nowadays, and have abortions and so on. So, you have to jump into

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> Group meditation, Hsihu Center, Formosa, April 29, 1989 (Originally in Chinese).

any family, and then you get bad DNA. It's too bad. That's the bad news, but the good news is that we can erase it by meditating on the Light and Sound.

So, that's why we're here. Believe me, I don't tell you anything that's superstitious, and I don't tell you to worship me, to give me money, or anything. This is solely for your own good and for the good of the world.

#### Forgive yourself and try again

The Buddha was already a Buddha before He came into the world, but He had to meditate for six years. And Jesus was the son of God, but when He came here, He had to run around for a dozen years to learn with different teachers and meditate in the desert before He could come out and be a perfect Master. That's because of the DNA problem! It's not because we're good or bad. It's just that the tool we've inherited is sometimes not what we wanted. So, forgive yourself, but try again all the time.<sup>24</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> Group meditation, Bangkok, Thailand, September 14, 1994 (Originally in English).



#### Some small secrets to share

After initiation, we step into the region of effortless action, above time and space and above all the laws of this world. Things will just start to happen in an incredible way, and truly we'll live in heaven while staying on earth. This is the life that was intended for us because we are the children of God.

- Supreme Master Ching Hai -



## Develop the body, speech and mind together

Sometimes you might feel you haven't made any progress in your spiritual practice and that it seems like a waste of time. Do you know why? Spiritual practice includes our body, speech and mind. For example, you've developed your mind very well in your spiritual practice and cleansed it of evil ideas and impure thoughts. Every day you only think about the living Master, the noble teachings and the practicing assembly. You only think about Quan Yin spiritual practice, et cetera.

In this case, your mind has become very advanced and "civilized", but your body may still lag behind in development and not be in line with your advanced mind. At that time, you may feel that your spiritual progress has come to a standstill. In some other cases, you may have a pure body and mind, but your speech hasn't yet been cleansed of its karma. There's another case, in which you've kept silence for some time, not speaking as much as you normally do. However, your body hasn't been cleansed of its karma so you can't make any progress.

This is like when parents are walking with their child. The parents walk very fast, but the child, distracted by the flowers, stones and streams along the road, forgets to move along. So, the parents have to stop and wait for him until he catches up. It's the same with your body, speech and mind. If any of them lag behind, the other two can't move along. All three have to be balanced and coordinated in order for you to make progress in your spiritual practice.<sup>25</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> Hsintien, Formosa, August 22, 1986 (Originally in Chinese).



## Anger will hinder our practice

Why do you sometimes hear the Sound but not see the Light when you practice the Quan Yin method? Because of breakdowns – television breakdowns. Therefore, we need to repair them very diligently every day. How? We have to be pure in thoughts, speech and action. We should not hate anyone; we should endure everything. No matter how others treat us, we have to use endurance and love. That is the way to repair our breakdowns.

Why do we have breakdowns? Because our angry atmosphere becomes a very hard substance. It stands in front of us and keeps us from the Truth. So, we ourselves create all our breakdowns. When we're angry, we generate a very dense and unpleasant magnetic field. This thick, dark and unpleasant magnetic field covers us like a barrier and keeps us from our goodness. It surrounds us very closely, just as though it were our clothes, very dirty ones which makes it impossible for us to connect with the good magnetic field. That's why we cannot see the bright Buddha's land; we only see the painful karma.

That's why we have to purify our thoughts, speech and actions, and keep the precepts in order to repair our broken-down television and be able to watch it every day. The outer TV takes money, cables and programs, but the inner TV doesn't need any of those. A little repairing is enough. We have to watch this TV every day; then we will develop the habit and be able to use it whenever we want to.<sup>26</sup>

48

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> Group meditation, Tainan, Formosa, May 21, 1989 (Originally in Chinese).



### Always keep pure and positive

We have to be very careful how we live our lives because everything we think generates something. If it's negative, it generates a negative atmosphere. It attracts bad luck to us and to the people around us; then everywhere we go we bring it with us. For example, if you carry a bag of poison and it's leaking, anywhere you go it will poison you and will poison anyone who comes near you. Poisonous thoughts are more poisonous than poisonous films or any other substance. Be careful what you think. If it's really no good, discard it right away, recite the holy names, keep yourself centered, purify yourself and enjoy the blessings that God gives you every moment that you are living. Be thankful that you're healthy, you're alive, you have a good place to come and relax, you have good friends like these and you have a good friend like me. [Applause]

I have never asked you to do anything for me personally. You always ask me, "How can we repay you, Master?" Don't. You don't have to repay me anything. Just clean yourself, mind your own business, and let me do mine. That's very simple. Because if you keep looking at my garbage, you cannot improve. If you're looking at the neighbor's garbage, you're doing yourself a disservice, that's all. I don't forbid you to look into the neighbor's garbage or to do anything you like. But you have to think whether or not it's good for you.

Every time you think negatively about someone, is that comfortable for you? No. Already it's no good. But there's no need to believe my words; you examine it. Every time you are angry with someone or think badly about them, whether it's true or not, who is the one who's most uncomfortable? The first, number one, is ourselves. So, it's very simple.

But it's very easy to keep ourselves in control. Just look straight inside, recite the holy names and pray every time that the Master will help you and will help give you loving thoughts right away or replace the bad ones with loving ones. That doesn't mean sometimes you don't get angry if you rightfully believe that. If you really believe it, just express yourself. For example, if you're angry with someone, tell him the reason. But you have to first examine whether it's true, whether it's logical and whether it's worth it. If you're angry because he made you angry, tell him. At least give him a chance to clarify it or clear the air with you. Don't just think and judge that person by your own personal experience, low or high level of consciousness, fix him there and then go to talk to someone else about him without him even knowing what you're talking about. And the third person is even more helpless. He just sits there listening to all the garbage. He doesn't even know anything about it. Then maybe that third person talks to the fourth person. Then the whole Center is full of garbage. Sometimes you don't talk about it but you think about it; that's also no good. You had better pray to God at that moment and say, "Take away this poison from me!" Or else you'll poison everyone around you; because thoughts, deeds and speech are all the same. They are powerful, especially when we have concentration. It's very tiring when sometimes the karma comes and you have to clash with someone. In the morning you look at yourself, and your face looks black. Something poisonous is inside you; released is some poison that makes you feel very tired, like you're getting old quickly and you don't look so fresh and young anymore. So, keep yourself pure and positive. It's best for you.

Sometimes you can't help it; for example, if you have to live together with someone and that person causes trouble and both of you misunderstand, then you have to clear it with each other. But that's not like thinking negatively about someone who doesn't know anything about you, who doesn't even know that you think negatively about him. Maybe the thing you think is not true. Even if it is true, you don't know how the karma works. You don't know what God has arranged for that or this person or for what purpose. You know nothing! So, you'd better just shut up. Shut the mind, recite the holy names and think positive because you don't lose anything if you think positive. Every time you think negatively, you lose. That's all. This is for yourself. It's not that I forbid you or God will punish you. Your life will be much better if you always try to think positive about everyone.<sup>27</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> Group meditation, Los Angeles, U.S.A., July 5, 1997 (Originally in English).



#### Take care to eat pure foods

Certain kinds of things in the material kingdom will affect us more or less. Therefore, the food we take also affects us mentally, bodily and also spiritually, and this has been proven since time immemorial.

Be careful about what you eat so that you don't contaminate yourself and make the cells and brain become confused, as these things will consequently hinder your spiritual progress. It's not that God cares about what we eat. But if we poison our systems with intoxicating things or impure food such as meat or animal products, then our cells – the cells of the body and brain – will also become contaminated and confused. Thus, we won't be able to think clearly and we won't be able to sit calmly in order to find the source of our happiness and wisdom.

If we confuse our cells, brain and blood, the "sentimental department" will also become confused. Then, we won't be able to think straight anymore and when we sit in meditation, we'll become very restless and agitated. Even if we can sit well in meditation, our vision will become clouded with negative influences from the poisonous things that we've taken into our bodies. So, it's not that God cares about what we eat, I care about what you eat, or that when you eat a little meat you go straight to hell. It's not true. It's just that if we want to be God-like, we must care about everything we do, that everything we eat is pure so that we also become pure – in body, speech and mind.

I don't care what you eat, but whatever you eat will affect your meditation practice, your mood, your temperament, your personality, your character, your value of life. Everything hangs on that. As long as we're in the material world, every material thing affects us. That's why we must take care to eat pure foods, foods that have less karmic burden, that have less suffering for our own sake.

Animals suffer a lot. They fear death; they cling to life; and if they're forced to die prematurely for us, of course their fear and hatred are retained in the flesh we eat. That's why we become aggressive, agitated, discontented and sometimes violent, like the feelings of the animals before they died.<sup>28</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> Group meditation, Los Angeles, U.S.A., July 6, 1997 (Originally in English).



## The result of coveting offerings

Now, one master in India, he had five hundred disciples. He was an ordinary teacher really, not a very high master, but he could see the future. Now, normally when he went to party, if someone invited him to make offerings, he never took his disciples along. So, one day the disciples couldn't stand it anymore. They said, "Master, whenever you go to a party, you go alone. We only work and work, but you never give us the same pleasure. If this time you don't take us along, we will leave you." So, the master took them that time, and then he always took them along.

After that life, the master reincarnated again as a pure monk, of a higher and more famous order. Wherever he went, there were five hundred flamingos always flying behind him. These were the five hundred students from his previous life who could not digest the offering merits from the people because they didn't have enough blessing, enough purity or enough practicing merit to enjoy this.

There are differences between people, not only between Masters and disciples. Therefore, I've taught you to be frugal, not to be greedy and exceed your share. Do not spend more than you have. When it's necessary, you can take and use. When it's not, try not to. Otherwise, we might get in trouble. Sometimes we might get sick, or get an incurable disease.

I knew one person who practiced and he always tried to live on someone else's earnings, and he always had diarrhea from the impure offerings! Sometimes when we take presents from other people who are impure, it also affects us. We may not even know that it affects us, but it's as if we owe that person or these persons something. We just feel like we're bound to them, and we don't know why we can't get away. It's sometimes like that, just because we take their presents. [Someone asks: What about the other people who are not monks and who exchange gifts all the time in their lives?] I have taught you to try not to receive things when not necessary, and when someone gives you something, try to give something else back, even if it's your relative.<sup>29</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> Group meditation, Costa Rica, June 2, 1991 (Originally in English).



## **Create a positive halo of energy**

Anywhere you meditate, the energy stays in that place. That's why you should do good things all the time, to surround yourself with good energy. Even talking about meditation, talking about God, talking about the Master power and talking about positive and good things also creates good energy. So, when you meditate, of course that creates good energy, which stays there. And the more you meditate in that place, the thicker the energy becomes. The more you talk about positive things, the thicker the wall of energy you surround yourself with. And then like attracts like, and you extract more good energy from different directions. So, wherever you go, you carry this so-call "pocket" of energy, a halo of good energy.

And the more good energy you carry, the better you feel. The better you feel, the more you talk about positive, good things. The more positive, good things you talk about and the more positive things you do, the more good energy you create. The more good energy you create, the better you feel. And you do better things, and it never ends.

So never, ever sink into a negative cycle. Just stay positive. I know it's hard. Because sometimes people drag you down. But be aware. Just be aware. Always try to stay positive. Say positive things and do positive things as much as you can. Protect yourself, and then you create a wonderful house, a movable house, so that everywhere you go, you take Light, good energy, good vibrations. And the more of that you take with you, the more you attract, and the more you attract, the more powerful and more positive you are. <sup>30</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> International three-day retreat, Los Angeles, U.S.A., December 16-18, 1998 (Originally in English).



## The way to minimize sexual desire

Marriage is okay, as long as it doesn't hinder your practice. Sex is okay, too, as long as it doesn't bother you or obstruct your progress. But most of the time it does because the mind cannot get over it. The sexual experience is very strong for people to handle. That's why most Masters tell their disciples to stay away from it. It's just like alcohol. It's really a poison, but if you drink a little, it doesn't kill you and it doesn't take you to hell. It's just that if you drink a little now, tomorrow you'll drink more and more, and then you'll damage your body, your mind and your spirit. So, the Master says, "Stay away from it." It's not that the Master is dictatorial or controlling people. She just knows what's good and what's not good. But we still make the choice.

- Q. Master, can You please advise me as to how I should control my monstrous sexual appetite? I need God's grace.
- M. This I don't have experience of. You know what? There are many remedies. But most people when they eat too much meat and drink the wine and all that, it will excite more of their passion. We already have enough so-called animal passion within us, so we do many things like the animals do. This we cannot control. Because we inherit the animal quality while we live in this kingdom, part of it, because of this body.

So now, if we want to control that, we must minimize the intake of intoxicants and exciting food, things like that. There are foods for sexual empowerment. People look for that. Some people like that. So, the old kings, they always ate special kinds of foods because they had so many wives.

There are many foods to control the sexual drive. The first stage is a pure vegetarian diet, no eggs, no fish, and no liquor, alcohol, no intoxicating things. Many things we, the ordinary people, pay high prices for, are poison. And I am always wondering why people spend a lot of their money to poison themselves. But that's their private choice and free will.

So, if you ask me how to minimize your sexual energy, there are many things to do. You switch to a vegetarian diet, eat kind of simply, with not too much oil and excitement spice and things like that. And then drink plenty of cool water. No champagne! Champagne is the worst thing, reserved only for wedding days. You know, yes? I don't know. I heard about that. I don't know. People have said it's like that.

But the most simple is to be busy, doing something meaningful, helping other people; and then you forget your own problems. I don't know how you have time to think about this drive even. You know, if you stay up all night long, reading like me, I think your sex drive will drive itself away, [Laughter and applause.] because sex drives are scared, scared of the work.

Do something. There is so much suffering in this world; do some volunteer work in your spare time. Feel the suffering of your fellow beings. Merge yourself in the sacrifice and the joy, the pure joy of serving all of them. Bring happiness, bring noble happiness to other people. That will bring noble happiness to you, too.

You have read so much that's bad, maybe pornographic information. Now, don't read it any more. Switch to holy books. Read the bible, read the Buddhist sutra, read the Koran, read whatever information you have on the holy life, okay? Hinduism books, anything you want, yoga exercise, holy saints' teachings; there's so much to read.<sup>31</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> Singapore, January 10, 1995 (Originally in English).



## Master's books and videotapes are the best spiritual tonic

Watching videos calms your mind and answers many of your questions before you meditate. It helps you a great deal. Don't think it's useless and then just run around or do something else. Listening to holy chanting or videotape lectures will help you a lot even if you don't truly pay too much attention to it sometimes. But sometimes you will because some of the sentences will shock you awake or calm your nerves. If you are paying attention to the talk on the screen, it will surely help you in your meditation.

Reading Master's books every day is similar to attending Master's real time lectures. It will bring you blessings and open your wisdom. You should also listen to Master's tapes as often as possible. For example, if you can't sleep, or if you're troubled by problems, you can play Master's audio tapes. If you listen to Master's tapes or read Master's books before going to bed, you'll feel different when you wake up. You can also use Master's books as pillows. [Someone asks: Are we allowed to do that?] Yes, it will open your wisdom more and more. [Laughter] [Someone asks: Will we be beaten by the Dragon God Guardian?] No. [Audience: But in the Buddhist's sutras it says that we can't use the scriptures as pillows.] If I say you can, then you can. I'm a modern Master. [Laughter]

People in the modern days have very little free time. Using my books as pillows will help you learn better. Often times you don't remember much after reading my books. But if you use them as pillows, you'll remember better because Master will teach you. Also, it's easier to teach you while you sleep because your brain isn't so stubborn. [Laughter] I can dig holes in your brain and break in faster. Of course, you still need to read the books. It's no use if you use them only as pillows. You should read a small section every day. There's no need to read to much at a time. If you like, you can also finish reading a whole book at one time. But, still, you should at least read a portion every day. Our body needs food every day, and in the same way, our spirit needs to be fed. You can also listen to Master's tapes, which will help you progress faster in your spiritual practice. You're too slow in your progress.<sup>32</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> Hsintien, Formosa, September 6, 1987 (Originally in Chinese).



## The real meaning of "Ba Guan Zhai Jie" \* – The eight areas of fasting

If you have no time all day and all night, then you can play Master's tapes when you're asleep. Let Master talk while you sleep. This will also have an effect on you. We have to make use of any available means to help us practice. We modern people don't have time, plus we're influenced by maya's power on the outside. Maya doesn't look like demons, as we think. Maya's power is the atmosphere we've created – like the atmosphere of nuclear bombs or the atmosphere of radiation. These atmospheres have a very strong influence on us.

If you can, let your stomach stay empty for one day a week. This is what we should do. If you can't, then empty your brain for a day. This is what "Ba Guan Zhai Jie" (fasting in eight areas) in the Buddhists' terminology means. Do you know what "Ba Guan Zhai Jie" refers to? It's not enough just to empty your stomach and read scriptures. When you practice the Quan Yin method, you're carrying out "Ba Guan Zhai Jie" in the real sense. We have to use the Sound current to cleanse our karma and outside influences. Then we can practice by making use of any opportunities we have. We should practice at any time, at all times. When you sleep, you can practice by playing Master's tapes. On the bus, you can play Master's tapes, meditate or read Master's books. This will help you improve faster in your spiritual practice. <sup>33</sup>

<sup>\* &</sup>quot;Ba Guan Zai Jie" is the Chinese terminology for the eight areas of fasting in Buddhism: 1. Do not kill; 2. Do not steal; 3. Dot not commit adultery; 4. Do not tell lies; 5. Do not drink alcohol; 6. Refrain from dancing, singing, playing music, going out for entertainment, wearing gaudy clothes or using make-up or fragrance; 7. Refrain from sleeping in a bed of excessive height and comfort; and 8. Do not eat after noon time.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> Hsintien, Formosa, September 6, 1987 (Originally in Chinese).



## A tonic is sometimes necessary during the winter of spiritual practice

Sometimes we encounter difficulties in spiritual cultivation, just as we feel uncomfortable when the cold, wet winter sets in. We seem to waver in keeping our precepts and our faith is not very strong. We seem to have regressed or come to a standstill in our spiritual progress, and we feel very sad. That's the "winter of spiritual practice." When we practice smoothly, we can call it "spring" or "summer." There are seasonal differences as in spring, summer, autumn and winter, and so there are similar differences in our spiritual practice. We can't be the same every day. That's why there are times when we err, want to quit, are reluctant to practice or find no fun in practicing. We may feel depressed, but don't know why. This is the character of the "winter of spiritual practice." At this time we should quickly have tonics to nourish ourselves.

For instance, if we don't feel well or strong in the winter when it's wet and cold, we can see a doctor of Chinese medicine and take some tonics. Or we can eat more nourishing food or an extra meal every day to build up enough physical power to last until spring. In the spring we don't eat that much, and in the summer we eat very little, but we feel very comfortable, and aren't as tired or depressed as we are in the winter.

When our spirituality doesn't progress smoothly, it's like the wintertime. But we'll get over it after a while. When we're in the "winter of spiritual cultivation," we're likely to get confused, quit, or be cheated. We may feel dull, make no progress or be reluctant to practice; or unsatisfying, obstructive situations may arise. However, we should know that everything will be all right after a while. At that time even if we make mistakes, regress in our practice, or lose faith, we should just forgive ourselves. If possible, we should quickly get some "tonics"! For example, we can attend retreats, go to see Master and meet initiates more often, go to group meditation more, read more of Master's books or listen to Her tapes and so on. All these are our "spiritual tonics." We'll feel much better after taking them. And then we'll be able to continue practicing until "spring" comes. During the springtime, we'll feel much better and won't need that much tonic.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> Seven-day retreat, Hsihu Center, Formosa, February 13-18, 1989 (Originally in Chinese).



## The best time for meditation

Every day we must meditate, both in the morning and in the evening, whether we are monastic or lay practitioners. We meditate in the morning so that we can face the day's polluted gifts. We meditate in the evening so that we're protected and in peace at night and so that we can cleanse the contaminated atmosphere of the day.

I think it's best to meditate in the morning; it's very easy then to have inner experiences and see the Light because at that time we have a relatively clear mind after having had enough sleep. After the right amount of sleep but still with a little bit of sleepiness left is the best time for meditation. Of course, it's most difficult to get up, just as when we've had some food but aren't completely full and still want a little bit more. This is the best time for meditation.

After a night of rest, many difficulties, obstacles and karmic hindrances are washed away. These impressions and negative influences from the previous day are all washed away and forgotten! All of our causes and effects are paid off in our dreams. So, we're very fresh when we wake up in the morning. Therefore, it's very easy to see the Light when meditating, easy to communicate with the highest qualities within us.

Some people work at night and sleep during the day. Depending on your situation, you should meditate after waking up. If you can't get up at seven o'clock, then get up at nine, but you should still meditate, at least for a little while. Otherwise, our minds won't be stable, and we'll view good as bad and vice versa. We'll be easily contaminated by other people's karma and be pulled down. Our level will drop quickly, or it will be hard to progress, even if it doesn't drop. We won't be able to have a cheerful mood, and anything we do will not go very smoothly. If someone offends us, we won't be able to forgive him, and we won't be able to think about anything clearly. So, meditation is very important.<sup>35</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> Group meditation, Hsihu Center, Formosa, April 12, 1992 (Originally in Chinese).



## How to get into the habit of early morning meditation

And in the morning it's still quiet. Like from three to six, most people are still sleeping: No traffic, no noise, no children and no telephone ringing. And your mind, after a night's rest, is calm. And your body is also still not fully active. So, you can sit better and you can attain samadhi, meaning heaven, more and more quickly.

- Q. What can I do to maintain a daily meditation schedule when there aren't enough waking hours in the day?
- M. You can't wake up? Me, either. No one likes to wake up when we're snug in bed, but we have to try. Suppose you have a job and you have to get up to go to work, then you must. For something like two thousand dollars a month, you wake up every morning at five o'clock. But for God, you don't wake up! So, what am I to do? You make your own priorities. We can wake up a little earlier than usual and then get used to it.

For example, say it's too early to get up at three o'clock; then don't wake up at three o'clock. If you normally wake up for work at five o'clock, then wake up at twenty to five the first day, or ten to five or even five to five, and the next day or next week, at ten to five. Get yourself used to the idea and reward yourself abundantly. Tell yourself, "If you wake up early today, I'm going to give you a double bagel or one more cup of café latte." Whatever your mind loves to have, reward yourself with it.

You must also love yourself because let's face it, we have only this one physical body, and sometimes we're very tired. We work hard for eight or ten hours a day, just to keep this machine running. And then we sometimes have to attend to other work such as family: A wife, children, parents, friends, neighbors, relatives and so on. We really make very great demand on this physical body.

So, of course, if you can't wake up in the morning for meditation, forgive yourself. Don't be too hard on yourself, but train yourself slowly. Watch less TV and go to sleep a little earlier so you can get up better. Whatever activities you used to do too much before to pass the time when you were bored, use that time to know God. It's a matter of organization.

I'm also pretty busy. You don't believe it; I sit here and look pretty, but I'm very busy, too. And it's also hard for me to get up early sometimes. But you have to put on the alarm clock. Sometimes it's like that.

In the old Indian tradition, there was a saint who could stay up all night, but he slept sitting up instead of lying down so it was just the same. [Laughter] Our people are the same. When they go to our retreats, they sit there and look very good, but they sit in any fashion. [Master humorously drops Her head to one side to show someone "nodding off."] So, never mind. Try your best; that's what counts. The saint in India had long hair like me, and he tied his hair to the ceiling. I'm not kidding! And then he became a master, because he tried so hard. He tied his hair to the ceiling so whenever he nodded off: "Oh! Okay! Ow!" [Laughter]

I'm not saying that you should grow your hair long and do that. But find your own way. Like you can wake up early; for example, in the beginning I had to put a flash of ice water next to me. And then when the alarm rang, I would reach for the ice and throw it on my face: Oh! The ice comes through your clothes and everything, and you just have to jump out of bed.

You don't have to do that; you'll have your own way. But when you want to do something, you can. Believe that you can because you're God. There's nothing impossible with God. Just remember that you have God inside you and no one else there. Don't listen to the mind and brain; it's just a computer. The mind tells us, "Oh, sleep. Sleep is good for you." But that's not God's voice. God's is behind that.<sup>36</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> Auckland, New Zealand, April 27, 2000 (Originally in English).



### **Turning two and a half hours into timelessness**

If we meditate more and more, finally we know that we don't need anything. Every day is a miracle for us, and we're happier and more loving everyday. That is the best gift from God.

That two and a half hours that you invest every day will work for a long time, for thousands of years; because at the time you enter eternity during your meditation, time stops. It's not two and a half hours. It's thousands of years, eons of evolution, of development. You enter a different time and space zone. Like this, you're recharged and you come back renewed so that you don't have to keep coming back another lifetime to be renewed or to be yourself; because for each one of us to be born, the purpose is to learn to know yourself again. That's all. If we don't do it in this lifetime we have to do it in the next lifetime and the next and the next. So, if we have time now, two and a half hours, we should do it every day. That already means we're doing it for millions of years. Each two and a half hours you put in, don't think it's only two and a half hours and don't think it's too much. Each minute you put in represents a lifetime. Because in eternity there's no such thing as two and a half hours or one minute. It's always eternity. We're only counting time because when we're trapped in time we know it's time. Once we're out of time, there's no time.

The time for meditation is very precious. It's your hundreds of eons of evolution squeezed together just like a concentrated chip for a computer. Just a little chip like this contains thousands, sometimes even millions of bits of information. So, it's not the size. It's not the time and it's not the number that we're accustomed to. The time of meditation is a completely different time, a different space. So, the more you enter into this timeless, spaceless space, [Master laughs.] the better it is for you, the more you know yourself, the more you're free.<sup>37</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> International five-day retreat, Youngdong Center, Korea, May 9, 1998 (Originally in English).



#### How to meditate a lot and not feel tired

When we meditate it's also a kind of reward because when we're able to sit, we really desire to sit for wisdom, that's already a kind of reward whether you get experiences or so-called experiences or not.

What should we do if we want to meditate a lot and not feel tired? The secrets are: Talk less, don't look around, don't think of others' goodness or badness and just recite the holy names twenty-four hours a day. If you feel unstable in doing the Sound meditation, then recite the holy names for several minutes before doing the Sound meditation again. Should you feel any part of your body ache or become numb, just take no heed of it! When you're in samadhi later, you won't sense that the whole body exists. Therefore, don't scratch around. When you get tired of doing Sound meditation, change your posture and do Light meditation. Your legs will then be very grateful to you for that. For they ache a lot and the head is taut from the previous posture. If you change your posture and do Light meditation at this moment, it will feel much better. So, you should do the Light and Sound meditations alternately, and they'll be helpful to each other and you can meditate longer without tiredness.

Some of our fellow practitioners can meditate for the whole night because they do the Light and Sound meditations alternately. But don't do that too frequently and change your posture in five minutes, for this is useless. For the longer time you remain in the same posture, the better. The Light and Sound meditations are helpful to each other. Sometimes when you've sat for too long in Light meditation and you feel tired and achy, you can change your posture and do the Sound meditation in this way. You'll then feel much better for there is seemingly something to rely on. This secret in practicing meditation is quite unknown to many.<sup>38</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> Seven-day retreat, Hsihu Center, Formosa, February 13-18, 1989 (Originally in Chinese).



#### If obstructions occur during meditation

If you have one hundred percent faith and live to pursue spiritual practice, very soon you'll get results. And when you reap the harvest, you'll have greater faith and hence more fruits.

If we want to progress more quickly, we must forget ourselves, be a humble person and do all the filthiest work that others don't want to do.

If you should have any obstructions at home, like you feel that some invisible being is disturbing you and that you can't meditate very well, or if you feel restless or agitated, you have two kinds of solutions. You can put on my chanting, music or teaching tapes in the background – not at the back of your "ground," but at a low volume in front of you. Never put anything behind you because your attention will be pulled backward and it will be more difficult for you to concentrate in the front. It's not that you can't do it; it's just not favorable for you. Put the tape, TV, music, anything in front – whatever you want to hear at any time, even the telephone, fax machine, anything. If you have to sit in an office, face the machine. In case it rings, it will ring in front of you, and won't pull your attention backward. That makes it very difficult to pull it back to the front again. And when you listen on the phone, listen with the right ear. Make it a habit; don't listen with the left ear. Everything that pulls your attention to the left or behind you is not advantageous to you. Remember. That's one thing. Another thing is that you can recite the holy names loudly for as long as necessary, or an hour every day, until the situation improves.

This is another preventive method for you; if you're fearful, sometimes you feel invisible beings around you or behind you, or if you were possessed before you came to me and you're still fearful, you can put my pictures around you like a circle. You have plenty of pictures; they don't have to be big, just small. It's not the size that counts, it's the person. Even with small pictures, just make a circle around you. The Tibetan tradition of the mandala is a leftover from this kind of practice. They always drew a circle. That was the beginning of it when the teacher taught them to sit in a circle with some of the artifacts that the master had blessed and given to them for souvenirs. Full of the master's love and blessing, they just surrounded themselves. Later they got more fanciful. They added all kinds of things – flowers, incense, sand, color and so forth.

You can do anything else you want as long as you feel good – as long as you feel safe, secure, and protected. Put my pictures around, put flowers as well if you want, incense or

whatever, candles also. But don't make too much smoke because then you'll cough all the time. [Laughter] The incense or smoke from candles, even though it's romantic and it looks spiritual, many times can cause irritation. Then you'll have a sore throat or some congestion in your chest later. It's a long-term side effect and no good. But if you can tolerate it, it's okay. I don't forbid anything in our practice as long as it makes you feel good.

You can even do the beads or recite a rosary, whatever; but then you become too attached to those beads and that habit and you forget to concentrate here. [Master points to Her wisdom eye.] It's difficult to call back again. Every day we're already attached too much to the outside world. In the morning, we get up, we have to wash our face, brush our teeth and put on make-up or put on a tie. That's already too materially conscious. On the job, we put our consciousness on money and even when we go home, we still think of money. So, every day we're already meditating on women, men, ties, jewelry, make-up or money. That's why when we have time for ourselves to meditate we should turn our attention inward.<sup>39</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> International four-day retreat, Washington D.C., U.S.A., December 26, 1997 (Originally in English).



#### Concentrating inside on the wisdom center

We have to study again and again. Make a firm start again, saying, "Today I failed. I didn't meditate very well. Tomorrow, the next day, I'll make more effort." Always try to strive for better will so that you can progress in spirit. And you'll become a stronger and wiser person in heaven.

It's not that any master or I, myself, forbid you to do this or do that because we're fanatical, because we're authoritative; it's not true. We should just forget everything else; just concentrate inside on the wisdom center. But when you concentrate, you should look right in the front. When you look right to the front, that's physically speaking; actually, when you look with the wisdom eye, it's inside. Besides, we're not inside, we're not outside; we're not anywhere. It's just a manner of speaking so you know how to do it physically. Otherwise, when you close your eyes and shut your ears, everything else is inside. Then you have no contact with the physical world that much. You will be inside and alone with yourself, and then know yourself, realize yourself again - that you're the spirit, that you're God, that you're the saint. That's why all the rosaries, beads, and so on at that time will be more detrimental, more obstructing to our concentration. It's not that they're no good. Everything that reminds you of God is good – a picture, a rosary, a cross, a Buddha statue, anything is welcome. Except when you meditate, it's better to put down everything absolutely because you're the saint, you're the cross, you're God. There's no need for any other reminders. But the mandala is just meant to protect you when sometimes some people, some rare individuals, fear the invisible beings that disturbed them before and the haunted memories that still disturb them, or they fear the darkness. That's why in the old times, they lit a candle to meditate so that a person didn't feel fearful. So, sometimes I advise some of you that you can leave the light on, and that's all right. However, it doesn't mean that we have to do it all the time or everyone has to do it. But then, one learns from another and says, "Oh, I feel good when a candle is lit," and all that, and everyone does it. It just becomes a habit. It shouldn't be that way. You can also massage your wisdom eye with a little oil or alone. If it's too dry, then with the oil, it goes smoother. It also helps with the wrinkles in some old people like me. [Laughter] I don't do it often; I just do it when I put on make-up. If you have difficulty concentrating, you could massage a little with your thumb or with your fingers up to the wisdom eye, and then stop right there. [Master points to the area just above and between the eyebrows in the middle of the forehead.] Stop like this, or just massage it and then stop afterwards.<sup>40</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> International four-day retreat, Washington D.C., U.S.A., December 26, 1997 (Originally in English).



# How to handle the problem of trembling during meditation

- Q. Sometimes when I'm meditating on the Light, I get like an energy surge; and it just sort of rocks me one way and the other, various different ways. What is this?
- M. It's okay. Sometimes the negative and the positive are trying to battle with each other. As we're not yet so completely stable and a hundred percent pure, it's like that. Later, it will become stable. Don't worry. You don't have to go with the feeling, or just let it go. That's why we have to keep ourselves pure with precepts and all kinds of things so that we can receive this kind of pure and tremendously strong energy. Try to take care that your food, speech, actions and thoughts are pure. Then the problem will become better or disappear altogether.

Sometimes, if you're trembling too much, sit on the floor. Don't sit too high, in case you fall down. [Laughter] I'm not kidding. Or, try to sit on a wooden board or wooden floor; it'll absorb some of the energy for you. Then you won't feel so badly shaken. Sometimes when you do the Quan Yin, you get a burning sensation. It feels like you can't bear it anymore. Then you can sit in another place. Don't sit on a cushion. Find a cool wooden floor to sit on. Put your feet on a wooden board or maybe on the earth. It will neutralize some of the strong effect of the vibration while you're not able to withstand it. Only in that case, but continue to meditate on the Sound. The Sound is particularly strong.

If you're not pure sometimes – you've had contact with people – it's not necessarily your own karma. So, don't blame yourself all the time for whatever happens. Sometimes we have contact with people, and their impurity and karma also affect us. Sometimes we eat food that we don't know is impure; this also happens. So, whatever leads you to this, meditate more.

If you sit on a cushion and you don't feel comfortable, it could be that it's too heated for you; sit on a wooden floor or on the naked earth, the soil instead. Put your feet up and meditate or sit on the floor; with a tatami (straw) mat is all right. It'll be airier, cooler for you; because sometimes the cushion we sit on is not made to do the Quan Yin. Try to change your position, maybe change the place, or change your sitting cushion and then it will be better for you.<sup>41</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> International seven-day retreat, Hsihu Center, Formosa, October 31, 1995 (Originally in English).



#### **Building courage and rising above obstacles**

Do not be afraid of your fearful feelings because the more we're afraid, the stronger will these fearful feelings become. The more we think about something, the more powerful the thing will become. So, let's just think about "love." At all times, we should simply think about "love," the "love power," and always maintain positive thinking, then the Master power will naturally take care of everything. Gradually, we'll get used to it and then there will be no more obstacles, and all our fears will vanish.

- Q. Every time after I meditate for a while, I want to stand up. I can't continue to meditate because I feel a power pulling me up.
- M. What power? [Laughter] You don't blame your own laziness, but you blame an outside power. You always blame ghosts, maya, foxes, rats or cats. You don't think about whether it's your own problem. If we practice diligently, we'll eventually have inner experiences, but we must truly be diligent and not blame negative powers for disturbing or pulling us away. Actually, there's no power pulling us away except our own weakness. Even if maya bothers us, it's all because we're afraid of it.

There's an Aulacese saying: "When maya wants to trouble you, it will look at your face first." This means that it will see whether you're fierce and courageous or not. If not, maya will bother you. If it sees that you're fiercer than it is, it won't dare to bother you. In *The journey to the West* (a Chinese spiritual classic), when the king of hell wanted to take the monkey king to hell, he arrogantly said to the monkey king, "Ha! Ha! I'm the king of hell!" However, when he was defeated, he kowtowed to the monkey king, saying, "Oh! Your greatness! Please spare my life! Please spare my life!" [Laughter] We should be like the monkey king. If we're too weak, we'll be intimidated by maya. If we're always afraid of maya's power, it will come to us because we're actually expecting it to come. Otherwise, what power in the world comes to you only but not to others?

Therefore, when we encounter obstacles, we shouldn't be bothered. Even when we feel a negative power, we should continue with our meditation. If we can't meditate, we should get up and walk around for a while and then try again to meditate. While reciting the holy names and praying to the inner Master for help, we should continue to meditate and see what the negative power can do to us. [Laughter] We should be positive, optimistic and courageous and then this will become our habit because everything is created by the mind. If we lack self-confidence and courage, we'll feel scared even when a rat moves; we'll imagine that it's a horrible thing or that maya or some power has come. But it may actually be just a rat. So, don't be afraid of anything.<sup>42</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> Group meditation, Tainan, Formosa, January 12, 1989 (Originally in Chinese).



## Taming the human brain

- Q. I get very, very tense and struggle, and struggle and struggle.
- M. Struggle with what?
- Q. Just with meditating.
- M. Okay. Don't make meditation a kind of work; it's just a relaxation time. Tell your mind that it has nothing to do and just sit there relaxing. And if you can't sit too long, you can lie down and rest. Make it pleasant.

You can put a flower in front of you, and wear some nice clothes. Make it like a ceremony if it feels good. That's why some people put out incense, flowers and all of that, just to please the mind. Whatever it takes to make your meditation pleasant, you can do it. Have fun! Or maybe lie down and rest. Meanwhile, concentrate here at the wisdom eye.

Make it pleasant at first. Don't make it too hard for the mind because he doesn't like it. He doesn't like working. And if you're too serious, the mind will rebel, thinking, "I don't like that. I'd like to have fun; I'd like to go out; I'd like to have music or coffee with friends. I don't want to sit here."

So, just make it nice. Invite some good friends, initiates, to come to your house. Or come to their house, have coffee, chat first, or do something together. And then sit together, as if it's a part of the game, part of the fun. That's in the beginning. Later, you get used to it and you don't need that game anymore. You can just sit anywhere and feel good.

First relax the mind. Most often, all of us are very hurried to become a saint, and that's why we have problems. We struggle between the soul and the brain. The soul wants to meditate; the brain wants to play. So, we can reward it somehow, like after you have a good meditation, give yourself some of your favorite food. Take yourself out or see your girlfriend; do something nice afterwards. So, the brain will know, "Okay, that's good." Train the brain just like you train a dog. [Laughter] You know how to train a dog. When the dog does something good you give him a reward. That's how he becomes better and better.

Our mind is sometimes a troublesome thing! If you really don't feel like meditating then just leave it. Don't force yourself too much. Just do something else. Run or do some

exercise. And when you're tired, then you'll like to sit down. And the mind won't make trouble. Actually, that's a problem when we're alone. Sometimes the mind tricks us a lot. And if we don't have someone to encourage us or hold hands with, we can't continue very quickly. That's why we need a Teacher and friends, fellow initiates. Then we can talk out the problem with them, and sometimes they help.

So, try to go to group meditation as often as you can. You can talk over problems with your fellow practitioners. Befriend them; invite them for coffee or tea to your house, and vice versa. Make it fun. And sometimes go out together; have fun. Go to the cinema and do something together so that meditation will become part of friendship and fun. At first, for some people it's necessary. You have to find out what your mind likes. And then give him a little; don't be too harsh on him.

Some people don't need it. They love to meditate so it's easy. But even then, when we enter some stages of meditation, we sometimes get stuck there. We suddenly feel that we don't want to meditate anymore. We don't want anything like that. We've had enough with Buddhas and things like that. But it's just temporary. Then later, when we have friends, read some spiritual books and listen to some spiritual tapes or even read some Buddhist scriptures – maybe that's going too far – but some contemporary books about life and death, about meditation and about the experience of heaven by other people, we'll somehow be more stimulated to want to have the same experience. And so we'll make a greater effort.

We have to find a way to do things that suit our pace of life, our style, our thinking and also our habits. Habits are hard to change. We should do it slowly, if we can't do it quickly.<sup>43</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> International three-day retreat, Norfolk, England, June 11, 1999 (Originally in English).



#### **Unexpected grace can come anytime!**

If our level of practice is not so bright but we have repentance, sincerity and pray daily, God's grace will still be bestowed upon us.

- Q. What does one do if one cannot just sit down and meditate?
- M. Then stand up, walk around for a while, wash your face or take a shower. Take a walk and come back and try again. Don't give up. When you meditate every day, it doesn't mean that every day you get good refreshment and results; but you must do it every day. You must do it whenever you can because God's grace doesn't make a rendezvous with us; Hes doesn't make an appointment with us, saying, "Tomorrow I will come to give you peace, tomorrow I will give you a vision, tomorrow I will take you to the third heaven." No, no, no! It comes anytime, any second, even when you least expect it. So, you just have to persevere with whatever technique you use to meditate, and pray to the Godhead within us, the most high within us to guide, to help, to sustain, to bless us. Every day we must meditate, with or without success. And anytime, maybe tomorrow, maybe the next minute, you'll get it. Just don't give up. It's just like when you open a shop to sell things, you never know when the customers, you have to stay open. Sometimes the last customer will come and buy the whole shop, or half of the shop.<sup>44</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> Berkeley University, U.S.A., October 13, 1989 (Originally in English).



### For those who want to progress more quickly

- Q. If you want to progress more quickly, and doing more meditation will help that, how much more do you really have to do to progress?
- M. You should feel how much you can take, or how much you want to do. Also, it's not only the meditation; it's the heart, the commitment. It's the devotion inside that says, "Oh! I really only want this." You long for it inside yourself, and that's a form of meditation. It's not just the sitting.
- Q. In daily life, can the way that you deal with things and how you feel help as well?
- M. Yes, yes; How you look at things and how you let them go. We can talk forever, but each one of us has his or her own way of going to God. Faster or slower; it's our own choice. You can't dictate to your heart what to do; neither can I. You just have it or don't have it. One day you're tired, weary of the world, of the fakeness and the illusion. Then you just commit inside. And it doesn't matter how long you sit, you're committed. You're with God all the time in your heart. That's true meditation. And that becomes very comfortable for you. Then you know it; you know that you're devoted. Otherwise, before you tried very hard to be devoted, but you were just trying. That's the difference! <sup>45</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> Group meditation, London, England, March 10, 1998 (Originally in English).



### Asceticism doesn't erase karmic hindrances

- Q. Master, although we can't attain Buddhahood through ascetic practice, can it help to eliminate some of our karmic hindrances or erase some of our karma?
- M. No, it can't! Ascetic practice is useless! Why should you abuse your own Buddha? God is within us. If you abuse Hirm, you're abusing the Buddha. You offend Hirm. You see, Shakyamuni Buddha had to give up asceticism after practicing it for some time! Eventually, He abandoned ascetic practice to practice the true and correct method. That was how He eliminated His karmic hindrances, not through ascetic practice.

When you practice the correct method, it doesn't matter if you practice a bit of asceticism, or indulge in luxury, if you wish. Since you're on the right track, it doesn't matter if you travel in a cab, a Mercedes-Benz or a Rolls Royce. It's the right path that matters, not the automobile. Just now I took a cab and arrived at the venue just the same. You might have come by bus, in a Rolls Royce or in your own car and you too have arrived. It's because we're traveling on the right road. It isn't whether asceticism is good or bad; the path must be correct. Practice the Quan Yin method and you'll attain liberation and eliminate your karmic hindrances!

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> Hong Kong, May 2, 2000 (Originally in English).



### Practicing with the right method

It's very relaxing to practice in our way. Once we have the correct method, then we can eat and drink as much as we wish. Where would we find a Buddha who would ask us to starve to death and suffer before we could receive His grace? That would be meaningless. Why would we be forbidden to take care of ourselves at the same time we were practicing? That's simply illogical. For instance, if our parents are very rich and they love us very much, they might tell us to study and acquire some knowledge. Then after we grow up and have certain abilities, they will entrust their properties to us. It's just that they're afraid we wouldn't know how to manage them before that.

Of course we must study and learn, but while we're studying we can still eat, drink, enjoy and wear beautiful clothes. Why? Because our parents are rich; it's just that simple. Similarly, we practice because we want to attain Buddhahood and to become one with God. Then Buddha or God is the wealthiest. Have you ever seen a Buddha in poverty? [Laughter] This is impossible. The whole world is His. Heaven and earth belong to Him. So, how can He be poor? He possesses the greatest authority; He owns everything. Then why should we behave like a beggar intentionally? We practice in order to reach His wealth, to reach His level of attainment, to become one with Him. But before we are untied and have His property, at least we should get enough to drink, to eat, to play and to enjoy. Why should we pretend to be suffering?

So, the most important thing in spiritual practice is to attain a correct concept and a proper method. After that, it's good enough for us to live a perfectly ordinary life. Incorrect concepts and improper methods bring about troubles.<sup>47</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> Group meditation, Hsihu Center, Formosa, July 5, 1992 (Originally in Chinese).



### The way to sainthood

Without a sacrificing spirit, we cannot grow up. In this way, it is useless even if we practice for several hundred years. To be devoted only to ourselves and not to others is not the way of the Boddhisattvas (enlightened saints). We should then realize that we are still far from being qualified as such. Whenever we do not consider others, we should know that we are associating with maya, the negative power. This is the only difference between a Buddha and maya. Once we are selfless in our thinking toward others, we have become a Buddha. Minding only ourselves and forgetting others, we become evil. We can clearly weigh ourselves by this scale. Don't ask me what level you are at or if you have reached Buddhahood!

You believe I am a Buddha. It is because I only consider others all the time, to the point that I forget my own benefit, disadvantage, future, body, comfort, reputation and need. I no longer care for anything. I would sacrifice my life for others regardless of whether I am successful or not. We cannot measure this by success or failure. It is not necessary to be successful each time we do good. Not so! It depends rather on our vow to save the dying, on our sincerity to sacrifice and devote ourselves for the sake of other beings.<sup>48</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> International three-day retreat, Phnom Penh, Cambodia, March 28, 1996 (Originally in Chinese).



Serving selflessly

#### The job of serving others of course does not earn any interest or salary. But we have the honor of serving sentient beings. The job itself is the highest reward and honor.

So, we have to serve selflessly and everything else will come. It's difficult to tell you all this because you always hear "Seek you first the kingdom of God, then all the things shall be added unto you." But what is the kingdom of God? The kingdom of God is not for yourself alone. If I have a kingdom of God, everyone must fit in. Otherwise, I won't go there; I'll wait for everyone. What's the good of me sitting there alone, or with you, or with a few disciples enjoying the kingdom of God and the whole of humankind is crawling, groveling on the earth suffering and all that? So, the kingdom of God comes after everyone else is enlightened, if it comes to that.

I believe in working for everyone else's happiness rather than working for my own. If you continue on that path, you have more satisfaction than any vision can give you. So, don't get strayed from that; you are doing okay. Just do that. Just serve people, and you'll have more satisfaction than any vision, than any Light or any Buddha's appearance can give you. I tell you the truth.<sup>49</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> Group meditation, Houston, U.S.A., November 12, 1993 (Originally in English).



### The more we work, the more enlightened we become

When you're not working for reward, but only from love, then everything will go very smoothly. We need not worry that this work will bring benefit for us or for someone else. We only do it because things need to be done at that moment. This way, we'll feel that our spiritual life is improving day by day. We'll have more endurance; the more we work, the more we offer, and the faster we will improve. We don't need praise from anyone. We know it ourselves.

We work for ourselves because only when we work frequently will our minds react quickly, and when we encounter problems, we'll manage to overcome them. This becomes a habit, and later when we encounter difficulties or problems, we can deal with them promptly and solve them quickly. People who don't work very often respond slowly. They may have good intentions, but they can't work quickly because they lack common sense regarding work. They're not used to reacting promptly, and are thus not very careful when doing their jobs.

We need to work more often in order to become more mindful. The more we work, the more careful we become through experience. Knowledge and intelligence come from experience, not just from studying. It's the same when we do any kind of work. The more we work, the faster we react naturally and the more capable we become. We can train ourselves to cultivate this habit.

My quick reactions and ability to perform all types of jobs didn't come only after I was enlightened. I've been this way since childhood because I like to do things. When I was about eight or nine and still studying in primary school, we had three or four servants at home. However, I fetched water for myself, and collected and chopped firewood. Occasionally, I cooked for my parents, brewed tea for my father and heated bath water for him. I washed my own clothes, ironed them, took care of myself, and refused to have the servants wait on me. That was in primary school. I took care of myself starting from grade two. That was how I trained myself to react quickly. I didn't descend from heaven to become a saint and tell you to do this and that. You can see that I can do anything, like cement work and carpentry. I can do everything myself, and do it better than professionals.

Every job is only a means for us to learn and grow. Actually, we don't do any work. You shouldn't complain and think that you're working too hard. It's only a means for us to learn. God uses this method to educate us, let us become enlightened and give us a chance to develop our talents, cultivate our personality, beautify our demeanor and develop our mindfulness. Every job is the same because we can only learn other things through this method.

If we're truly mindful in our work, we can learn something from doing any task. It's like following an example that will lead us to realize other things. Therefore, sometimes when we work we suddenly realize many truths. Work is a way to temper ourselves, helping us to measure our personality, stamina, talents and level of enlightenment. So, you shouldn't be afraid to work. Fear of work is also a kind of phobia. The more we work, the more enlightened we will become. <sup>50</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup> Group meditation, Hsihu Center, Formosa, April 25, 1992 (Originally in Chinese).



### The essence of mastership – Master yourself and become perfect

A Master isn't a perfect person – never is, never will be. You must know that. But a Master is one who can master His or Her mistakes. We can learn from them and vow to make ourselves better each day. Just like being a genius is continuous hard work to maintain, so is mastership, which is all about mastering yourself and nothing else. If anyone else follows you, it's just by the way, just because of your aura. Your true sincerity attracts them from inside. That's why you don't need to talk. You don't even need to tell them anything and they believe you. Mastership is like that. Don't believe that I was born perfect, I'm perfect at the moment or I'll ever be perfect. No! I'm learning like you. But I've mastered myself. I don't let my mind dictate to me what to do because I know the mind. I make friends with it; we make a deal, saying, "You do this and I'll do that and we won't bother each other. If you do it well, I'll reward you. I feed you well, don't I?" I tell it, "I give you anything when you want it." It's just that now it doesn't want much because it knows it can't get much with me, so it forgets it. Even when it wants to sleep, I say, "No, get up and work." Then it has to do it. So, it's gotten used to it after ten years. It says, "It's no good talking to this girl. She's very stubborn. She just does what She wants, and it's no good arguing."

That's all there is to being a Master, continuous striving for perfection, for a better nobler personality – a better ideal, not really a personality because when you talk about personality you mean you still want fame and all that. You know you still have ego, wanting to be proud of yourself; it's not true. It's just that you think that whatever you want to do, whatever you think is noble, is highly idealistic, benefits others, is good, then you must try to do it. It doesn't matter what the cost is, you just do it and don't talk. That's the only difference. Otherwise, what's the difference? If we were to be operated on right now, none of our brains would be much better than the others. Maybe I'm of a little bit higher IQ or you're higher, but that doesn't mean that we're much different. Our brains are the same. Our willpower is the same, except that if you exercise to make it grow stronger or not; it's your free will. Most of us abuse our free will in a harmful way, in a retarding way, slowing our progress to higher consciousness. Don't ask me why we have to strive higher. It's more comfortable to be a noble being, to be a wiser being, than just always being ignorant, sluggish, slow, lazy and a "couch potato," just lying there and waiting for things to happen. It's better not to worship me, better not to follow me; just follow my example. Worship the result that comes out of my efforts and then do it. Do the same, and then you'll become a Master in no time.<sup>51</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> Group meditation, Los Angeles, U.S.A., March 13, 1996 (Originally in English).



### Train the mind and cultivate self-confidence

We have to be happy and then be confident, be positive. Every time you think that you are at a lower level, throw that idea away. Every time you feel you are depressed or beaten up, throw that idea away! It's tough, but that's how you bear the blues. That's how you become higher. You cannot want to be at the fifth level and be thinking at the same time that you are lowly, beaten up by karma and being negative. I can't help you then. You are the one who decides at which level you want to be, not me. I can't bless you; you bless yourself.

Suppose I say, "Okay, go to the fifth level; I bless you." But your mind is still used to thinking negatively and being depressed and pessimistic. You have to train your mind. Tell it that you are the Master; tell it what to think, what to do, what to feel, and which level you command. When you can do that, you know you are the Master. You are already a Master; it's just that you have a hard time convincing yourself. You have to work with yourself.<sup>52</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup> International three-day retreat, Los Angeles, U.S.A., December 16-18, 1998 (Originally in English).



### Acquiring a faster vibration

When your vibration is very low and very slow and you think slowly, you work slowly, and you speak slowly, what can you do? What kind of work can you do? What kind of service can you offer? Your level is so low and your vibration is so slow. The lower the vibration, the lower the level of life. So, you see that the stones are solid; they cannot move. The trees can move a little bit, but only with external help. Then we come to the insects that can move, and then the fish and other animals, but they still think slowly. But now we're human beings; we must be faster. We must have a higher frequency, a faster vibration; otherwise, we can't catch up, we can't go, we can't grow up, we can't develop, we can't improve, and we can't progress. We can't stay slow like that all the time, like when we were animals, like when we were stones, trees or insects. We're different now. We can't cling to the older vibrations anymore. We must move fast.

Because we've been animals in our last lives, or stones and trees in our past history, that doesn't mean we need to be there all the time, that we need to stay at that level. We must know now that we're at a different level. We must move. We must improve. We must make use of this opportunity to think fast, to do things fast, and the energy must run faster. Then we can run faster, faster, faster, until we have vibrations as fast as the Buddhas and God so that we can become one with them, be as intelligent as they are; then we become God.

We can't stay there and make excuses for ourselves and blame the Master for pushing us. I have to push you. Otherwise, you'll stay there forever. I have to stir you up to life, make you work fast, think fast, speak fast. You have to raise your vibration up to a much faster level: Faster, faster, faster, still. Intelligent people react very fast. They think very fast. And the Buddhas and the saints, their vibrations are very fast; therefore they work very fast. They can work a hundred thousand jobs at the same time because their vibrations are so fast. So fast that they just look like they're not working at all, but they're working all the time, twenty-four hours, and at every kind of job at the same time. Because they move so fast, it looks like they don't move. That's why they say "doing but not doing." – because of that.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup> Group meditation, Costa Rica, February 2, 1991 (Originally in English).



### Public service is the fastest way to cleanse karma

When we serve the multitude, God also serves us. Such is the law on which the universe functions.

I feel the grand difference when I'm at the Center. That's why I said to you that when you work in this kind of service, your karma is cleaned quickly. For example, if you pay one dollar, one dollar, one by one, it takes a long time. But if you pay all at once, it's fast, immediately gone. Now, doing this kind of job is just like paying all at once because many people will use this so your debt is gone. If we do it only for one person or only for one employer, for the self-serving motive of earning money to take care of our body and life, then of course, the benefit is only like that. But when we do this kind of job, not for ourselves to gain any benefit, to get any money from it, but for the benefit of many, many people, then of course our job is on a grander scale. The merit is greater and therefore our karma is cleansed very quickly. We owe the world so much and now we also pay back so much. Only in this way can we pay back quickly. Otherwise, how?

We owe so many people; we owe the whole humanity many things. If we don't pay the whole of humanity back again, but instead pay one person, two persons, three persons, oh, it takes ages! We live in this world; we owe the whole world. Some we owe some grass, some we owe the road, some we owe clothes, some we owe rice. Only by paying the whole world back can we be cleansed. We owe many people so we have to pay back many people. And this kind of job allows us to pay back many people at once because many people will use this Center. That's how we pay the whole total. That's why our karma is cleansed so guickly. We're born into this world and we owe many people: This one for rice, this one for clothes, this one for... Everyone is our benefactor, and some we can pay back by direct contact, like our father, mother, children or teacher. We give them money, we give them love; some of these people we can pay back. Others who are too far away, maybe we pay back through taxes or by benefiting them in something, maybe a little bit further over there. But we can't pay back another country. If it's in our country maybe we can pay taxes and make it somewhat equal. Medical techniques, chemical discoveries and everything from different countries, imports, exports, et cetera, how do we thank them all or pay them all back, directly or indirectly? So now, we have a Center here in Costa Rica. You come here and make toilets, dig for water, plant trees and build a meditation hall. You cut the grass, make the road, make the yard for people to sit in, and all the international people come here and enjoy it. So, you pay the whole thing back all in one go. 54

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup> Group meditation, Costa Rica, February 2, 1991 (Originally in English).



### Be a shining example of sacrifice and true love

If we still demand something, or our heart is still attached to a certain place, we'll be used by the king of maya. When we have no more fear or demands, we're content with anything we have, even if we have nothing, then there won't be any more traps. And we won't be afraid of any turmoil.

As long as we live, we must dedicate our whole lives to the goodness, to the progress of humankind, of the whole world, of the whole universe. Our vision must be so large, larger than life; it must be so noble that we have nothing else to lose. We fear nothing in such greatness of vision. Every obstacle becomes very small, every personal inconvenience becomes meaningless in such a vision. I don't feel that we're talking like a dream or just making a vision, but I feel that it will come true some day. It might have already begun to take root, but it will have to branch forth in all directions and make new buds, new flowers, new branches. It has to grow larger, greater, faster and envelop the whole world with the spirit of love and service, unconditional service.

What else do we need from this world except a few pairs of clothes and enough food to sustain our physical needs? Why do we need to worry about wealth, property, position, power and recognition in the world? If we know that we can't take more than two or three meals a day, if we know we need only a few pairs of clothes to warm our body, we have no fear if we understand our needs are very few.

Should we shed this physical clothing, it's all right. We'll be given another if we need it. If we don't need it then it's fine, too. If we don't come back, it's also fine. As long as we live in this world, we must make our life meaningful. What else do we live for? We'll die sooner or later. And if we look back from the other world, to the past, to the many decades of our life, and we see nothing meaningful, nothing glorious about our actions, speech and thoughts, then we'll feel very burdened. That's how people have to come back again to this world!

There's no one to sit in judgment of us except our own conscience. That's the only one from whom we can never run away. God might forgive us, the whole world might not know about our actions, but we know. We're the only ones that we can't cheat, we can't tell lies to, and can't run away from. So whatever we do, we should make sure that it's beneficial to us. When we benefit other people, we benefit ourselves. We see clearly with our eyes what we do and how people benefit from it, how the world progresses through our effort. We know clearly. Our goal must be noble, must be high, must be mighty. Otherwise, what's the use of living a life

kind of like an animal, feeding ourselves, working, raising children and nothing more, no higher ideal, no lofty motive. Why should we just be a very lowly, ordinary person when we possess such a mighty power, such a lofty spirit?

We've inherited so many noble doctrines from different Masters, who have graced our planet with their presence, with their wisdom, with their everlasting blessing. Why should we just be an ordinary animated being instead of being a broader, larger, greater soul to benefit many other people and our own conscience, when we see, when we feel, when we know what we've done in life. As long as we breathe this air we've learned all, everything to benefit others. That's the way to benefit ourselves. That's the way to ennoble our soul and to grow, to become a saint. <sup>55</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>55</sup> Group meditation, Hsihu Center, Formosa, April 10, 1992 (Originally in English).



# Why are incredible benefits gained from group meditation

During group meditation, the power is enormous. Even if our spiritual level is very low, it will be raised to a much higher level after we've joined in group meditation for some time. On the other hand, even if our level is high, not going to group meditation will push us down to a very low level. This is because in this world, we're reliant on and related to others; no one can accomplish anything alone. It's the same with spiritual practice. It's wrong for us to think that we can be successful in spiritual cultivation by practicing alone; it only shows our ignorance and low level.

The merit derived from group meditation is many times greater than that of one person meditating at home for days, months or even years, depending on the number of participants in the group meditation. Therefore, the more the participants, and the longer we meditate in a group, the more difference it makes to our spirit. Many people I can tell just by their looks whether they go to group meditation or not. Fellow practitioners are aware of this too. There are obvious disparities. If you attend group meditation often, don't attend for a period of time, and then attend group meditation again afterwards, you'll feel different, feel that you aren't so pure. We gain more blessings for our country when more people attend group meditation. You don't need to wonder: How can our nation derive blessings just because a few of us are meditating together? It's true! Just like if several people are living in a big house, it's enough if one of them is rich and willing to contribute. He'll repair any of the leaking areas in the house and thus benefit the whole family. Even if dozens of people stay in that house, it's no problem. This benefits himself, and all the residents feel secure. Such is the case with one family. In the same way, other people definitely benefit from the spiritual practice of just a few of us. Just one light by the roadside, wow! It's useful to so many people, thousands and thousands of passers-by. The lamp loses nothing, but becomes even more functional when more people use it. Therefore, though many people in our world might not be practicing spiritually, it's sufficient if we do. Otherwise, it would be even worse if no one was practicing at all. Just like when the entire village has no light, there will be total darkness. If we can have one or two lights, it's better than none! The highway is very dark, yet we can see a long distance if there are several lights. So, practice more diligently, thus benefiting yourselves and everyone. This is what I love most. 56

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>56</sup> Group meditation, Japan, March 12, 1992 (Originally in English).



### How to concentrate and meditate better

- Q. Master, when I meditate, I can't keep my mind concentrated here. It runs all over the place and talks about all kinds of different subjects. How do I concentrate and meditate better?
- M. Is that an initiate or not? [MC: Are you an initiate?] Because I'll answer differently. Who asked that question? [Someone answers: Yes.] That's why we have to go to group meditation. Because the concentrated power will help us, and we have to take time; some people can concentrate right away and some people take a longer time. I mentioned that previously in the lecture. Also forgive yourself. The situation in this world is not conductive to tranquil meditation and calm thinking, but try again and again. In this world, we have an advantage in that because this world is so difficult for us to practice in, God's blessing is with us many fold. So, we walk one step and the Master power will walk a hundred steps to help us.

If we're in heaven and practice, it's not that lucrative. Therefore, in heaven if you want to practice, it takes a longer time. For example, when we practice one day here it's equal to a hundred days in heaven. That's why many devas, heavenly beings, like to be incarnated into human bodies in order to practice faster. It's because here we have all kinds of rubbing force, like karma and situations and disasters and wars and suffering and happiness, all these mixing together. It's a kind of strong, useful tool for ourselves and for the world.

While we're practicing here, we also have the opportunity to help our fellow beings and therefore we gain more merit as well. For example, you meditate alone at home so you have only one personal merit. But if through your effort or your eloquence you offer your place, for example, for a hundred persons to meditate in, then you have a hundred more merits to add to your personal merit. So, you move up a hundred times more quickly; do you understand what I mean? Or you get another hundred persons to come in to get initiation, and these merits are also yours. Because after all we are one, and the more we connect with more people, the more expanded we become and the greater we become in terms of merit. Mathematically speaking, it's like that.

So, it's better than in heaven. In heaven everyone is having a good time and so they take it easy. They don't have the motivation behind them to push them to concentrate. That's why I say when you're in deep sorrow or when you're in despair you pray better, and sometimes you meditate even better. At that time you remember the Master more and say, "Oh, Master, please, please, please..." [Laughter] And then you get better

experiences that day, bigger Light, stronger Sound or you feel more elated, nearer to God. So, it's good to practice in this world even though it's difficult.

I'm happy that many of our fellow initiates practice very diligently. Some come to the Center just to look around, but later... Well, they don't look around that long because everyone closes their eyes. So, they feel embarrassed after some time and they also close their eyes, and then they see something inside instead of looking at pretty girls outside. So, there's a very good advantage to having a temple or having a Center, where people come together and do the same thing, concentrate and one-pointedly think of God; that helps very much. So, take your time. You can look around for a while, and then when you're fed up with it, you can close your eyes and meditate with all the people. Okay?

The mind always has trouble being controlled; that's why we have to practice every day. Otherwise I'd tell you, "Get initiation and you're a Buddha." No more work! Right? It's because our habits are long term. It's been many thousands of years of time, maybe more! So, taking one lifetime to clear up all these things is hard work, but it's worth it. Or do you want to stay here a thousand more years to continue to do that? Well, it's fun! So, that's why I tell you that you have to meditate for a longer time, two and a half hours or three hours; because the first twenty minutes is struggling – just going on, going on with it and after about twenty minutes, it begins to settle down. After half an hour, you begin to enjoy and in forty minutes, you're gone. [Laughter] <sup>57</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup> Fremont Hindu Temple, Los Angeles, U.S.A., November 25, 1993 (Originally in English).



# We strive in order to know that we don't need to strive

- Q. Your mentioning that everything is already arranged for us brings to my mind a question: If it's already arranged, then what's the purpose of striving for enlightenment or for liberation, if our striving is virtually meaningless at that point?
- M. You have to strive in order to know that you don't need to strive.
- Q. Do You mean that you strive until you give up?
- M. No, you strive until you fully, fully understand that every effort is useless. You have to make an effort in order to be effortless later. At the moment, it doesn't matter what I tell you: You'll still strive. So, I tell you how to strive. And I say, "Go ahead and strive; strive harder, until you reach the point that you know: "Why should I strive? I'm here already. I've already arrived."" But now if I tell you, you won't understand. So, you have to strive to understand that you shouldn't strive. Because now if I tell you, "Don't strive," can you stop? Can you just relax and surrender?
- Q. Well, actually I found myself doing that but then feeling a little bit behind schedule and getting back into striving again.
- M. Yes, that's it. So, you still aren't there. Then try to strive more, and one day you'll stop striving. That's the purpose. Because if we don't strive now, we can't feel at ease. When you stop striving and you still feel at ease, then it's all right. Now, if you don't strive, you're in trouble.
- Q. So, if I were to stop striving even though I don't have the total understanding of it, that would also be ineffective. Is that what You're saying?
- M. Yes, ineffective.
- Q. So, you have to really come to that level of understanding?
- M. Yes. Not intellectual understanding: Truly relaxed, truly at Home. Because now, intellectually, you understand what I'm talking about, but realization is different. <sup>58</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>58</sup> International seven-day retreat, Pingtung, Formosa, December 22, 1992 (Originally in English).



### An era full of God's grace

- Q. Dear Master, do You think that there will ever be a day when we could all just go back Home and not have to deal with these earthly issues and matters?
- M. Oh! Definitely, we'll go Home.
- Q. I mean, will all of us?
- All of us will! No one will be left behind. No "second coming" for you. [Master and M. everyone laugh.] Unless you want it so badly for a beautiful woman is left behind or something like that. Because this time is a very bad period for our world, and the Master power decided that we suffer enough. So, if we just make a little effort, with just a little sincerity, the Master will embrace us and disregard everything. Because you can't. [Master sighs.] To be honest, you can't meditate in this world. You really can't. So, whatever we can do to meditate, or whatever the outcome, truly comes from the grace of the Master, meaning the Master power, not this person. So anyhow, during the night, the Master will take us to different levels where it's safer and better. In the day, we are too busy. Our mind is running against the spiritual power, so we have to do it quickly at this time. If you keep the precepts and meditate and go to group meditation, you'll see yourself improve so fast that you could not imagine. When you look back at yourself, it's like someone else behind there, really! The people who experience this will tell you. I don't say this because I know it from books, but from experience myself and the living examples of your brothers and sisters. It's nice to see your family members (fellow initiates) once a week, no? It's good; not many people can keep it up, but it is very beneficial to them, and if you can't go to group meditation or if you don't want to for any reason, please meditate at home. And there's no "must" for anything; it's just that it's beneficial to you. Whatever I tell you is good for you only. No forbidden items! You keep it; it's good for you. Or if you don't keep it, well, you'll experience some setbacks or some obstructions and then you'll know why. 59

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup> Group meditation, Hawaii, U.S.A., September 4, 1994 (Originally in English).



### **Cherish the opportunity to practice**

- Q. In one of Your lecture collections, You mentioned "the Ocean of Love," a poem by Kabir. Is that right?
- M. Yes, I've talked about Kabir's poems many times, but what is it about the Ocean of Love?
- Q. It's about the highest God, they call Sat Purush; He comes through different incarnations in each age (Yuga). And in the Kali Yuga, Sat Purush makes a deal with Kal (Lord of the three realms) to take a lot of souls back Home.
- M. Yes, this is the Kali Yuga, the dark age. It needs a strong guy to come down and take everyone up! Big car! Strong! [Master laughs.]
- Q. Is that why so many souls can be liberated so easily?
- Yes, that's right; you know it already. Of course, it's like that. It's the last age of this М. cycle. So, whoever is left behind: Hurry! Hes brings everyone up; that's why it's very generous. But it takes a lot of power, just like a hurricane brings a lot of water. It takes a hurricane to bring so much water inland; normal rain doesn't do that. So, at this time, it's like "wholesaling." Because we have a lot of room and a lot of grace, so everyone can be covered. It's no problem. You're lucky! [Applause] God is generous, but Hes has never been so generous before. In the old times, at most there would be a handful, maybe a thousand people. There could never be so many, and they could never be so openly gathered together despite everything. You guys are really lucky. In the old times, if they wanted to have group meditation, they all had to hide and run all over the place, using secret codes, secret handshakes, secret hand signals like mudras (hand gestures) or the salutation that you use - even this [Master makes a gesture.] - remember the wisdom eve, repeat the holy names, do the Quan Yin, and then we're together. That's the secret signal the Christians used to have, for recognition of one brother to another. Because in those times Jesus had to hide; all the disciples also had to hide. They didn't even dare to recognize the Master in public, saying, "I don't know Him." Even the foremost disciple Peter denied Him three times. Such was the negative power – so oppressive that even so mighty a person as Jesus, and so devoted a disciple as Peter, could not open their mouths. It was very oppressive then. But in this time, we're very lucky.<sup>60</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>60</sup> Group meditation, Florida Center, U.S.A., June 9, 2001 (Originally in English).



### We are the luckiest yogis

- Q. I wanted to ask You how high I have to be in this life spiritually to not have to come back after I die.
- M. Be as high as you can. Otherwise, the Master will push; the Master will be there to take you to whatever level and continue guiding you upward. Otherwise, you would have to pass through the three worlds. With any other master, you would have to pass the third level in order to not come back. But with this supreme method, it's okay; you can.

Because sometimes it's not your fault that you didn't reach a high level. For example, suppose you get initiated today and die tomorrow. It's the Master's responsibility to take you up from wherever you are before you leave the physical body, or before the Master leaves the physical body. We're okay. This time, we just have a fully open house to help everyone. Whoever is sincere, the Master power will help this time, very generously. This century, it's very generous.

- Q. Why is this century so special as opposed to a thousand years ago?
- M. Because every now and again, the heavens open "wholesale." [Master and everyone laugh.] Like at a garage sale: Everything's one dollar. It depends on which Master came down. You see, we're all Masters. But some masters are newly remembered again; they just became enlightened again this lifetime. Some Masters have been enlightened all the time. Some Masters never left heaven and have just come down this time. Some Masters come and go, come and go all the time, and have affinity with a lot of beings on this planet. And when She or He comes back again, it's to all old friends: "Anything you want, it's okay. We knew each other." [Applause] Maybe we were old friends; that's why.

If the master has just newly come, then he doesn't have too much affinity with many beings. So, he just takes a few disciples to begin with and then continues again and again the next time. If the master has just remembered again that he's a Buddha this time, then of course he also has to develop more experience. It's not that the Master doesn't know, but just like everything else, you have to practice. You practice how to deal with the human mind, how to deal with the bureaucracies of this world, how to protect yourself from all the harassments on this planet and how to keep yourself intact in order to help people quietly without bringing trouble to yourself.

But the new master doesn't know that. The new master goes out with all full colors, blasting trumpets and everything. And maybe after three and a half years, or two and a

half years or three and a half months, he's gone. The spiritual power is the same; it's from the universe. But the way to handle the disciples, the way to deal with political power in this world: These have to be learned because these are mind things. These are skills and abilities. They have nothing to do with enlightenment and the soul. Of course they have, because the more enlightened you are, the more quickly you learn. But if He or She has already had experiences, life after life, there's no need to learn so much.

Because how can a person learn so much in one lifetime? Even if you're enlightened, you can't learn auto mechanics, airplane piloting, sailing, business accounting, computer software, hardware and every other thing. You could, but your life is too short. These things are not soul things. These things are abilities that you have to use your mind and brain or hands and physical body to understand and master. So, if the Master has already learned all about how to be a Master – not "how" to be, but meaning that as a Master, you have to encounter and you have to be able to do many different things – this kind of Master is easier and quicker. It's simpler. It's just the know-how of the world.

The method is the same, the teaching is the same, the power is the same and the Truth is the same. But the Master Himself or Herself is capable or not capable: Concerning the public, concerning how to teach the disciples the best and the quickest way to progress. The Master can teach the same method to the same people. Two different Masters might teach even the same method to two different disciples. But the one from one Master will progress differently or more quickly than the one from the other master. It's like that. It also depends on how the teachings are imparted to his or her mind. Because if the mind doesn't understand, the mind doesn't accept it; then you cannot progress quickly. You don't feel so good. You don't feel convinced, or you don't feel confident. [Applause]<sup>61</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>61</sup> Group meditation, Florida Center, U.S.A., June 9, 2001 (Originally in English).



### Initiation into the Quan Yin method of meditation

Supreme Master Ching Hai initiates sincere people longing to know the Truth into the Quan Yin method of meditation. The Chinese characters "Quan Yin" mean contemplation of the Sound vibration. The method includes meditation on both the inner Light and the inner Sound. These inner experiences have been repeatedly described in the spiritual literature of all the world's religions since ancient times.

For example, the Christian bible says, "In the beginning was the Word, and the Word was with God, and the Word was God." This Word is the inner Sound. It has also been called the Logos, Shabd, Tao, Soundstream, Naam, or the celestial music. Master Ching Hai says, "It vibrates within all life and sustains the whole universe. This inner melody can heal all wounds, fulfill all desires, and quench all worldly thirst. It is all powerful and all love. It is because we are made of this Sound, that contact with it brings peace and contentment to our hearts. After listening to this Sound, our whole being changes, and our entire outlook on life is greatly altered for the better."

The inner Light, the Light of God, is the same Light referred to in the word "enlightenment." Its intensity can range from a subtle glow to the brilliance of many millions of suns. It is through the inner Light and Sound that we come to know God.

The initiation into the Quan Yin method is not an esoteric ritual or a ceremony for entering a new religion. During the initiation, specific instruction in meditation on the inner Light and inner Sound is given, and Master Ching Hai provides the "spiritual transmission." This first taste of divine presence is given in silence. Master Ching Hai need not be physically present in order to open this "door" for us. The transmission is an essential part of the method. The techniques themselves will bring little benefit without the grace of the Master.

Because we may hear the inner Sound and see the inner Light immediately upon initiation, this event is sometimes referred to as "sudden" or "immediate enlightenment."

Master Ching Hai accepts people from all backgrounds and religious affiliations for initiation. We do not have to change our present religion or system of beliefs. We will not be asked to join any organization, or participate in any way that does not suit our current life style.

However, we will be asked to become a vegetarian. A lifetime commitment to the vegetarian diet is a necessary prerequisite for receiving initiation.

The initiation is offered free of charge.

Daily practice of the Quan Yin method of meditation, and the keeping of the five precepts are our only requirements after initiation. The precepts are guidelines that help us to neither harm ourselves nor any other living being. These practices will deepen and strengthen our initial enlightenment experience, and allow us to eventually attain the highest levels of awakening or Godhood for ourselves. Without daily practice, we will almost certainly forget our enlightenment and return to a normal level of consciousness.

Master Ching Hai's goal is to teach us to be self-sufficient. Therefore, She teaches a method that can be practiced by everyone, by themselves, without props or paraphernalia of any kind. She is not looking for followers, worshippers, or disciples, or to establishing an organization with a dues paying membership. She will not accept money, prostrations, or gifts from us, so we do not need to offer these to Her.

She will accept our sincerity in daily life and meditational practice to progress ourselves to sainthood.

#### The five precepts

- 1. Refrain from taking the life of sentient beings. \*
- 2. Refrain from speaking what is not true.
- 3. Refrain from taking what is not ours.
- 4. Refrain from sexual misconduct.
- 5. Refrain from using intoxicants. \*\*
- \* This precept requires strict adherence to a vegan or lacto-vegetarian diet. No meat, fish, poultry, or eggs (fertilized or non-fertilized).
- \*\* This includes avoiding all poisons of any kind, such as alcohol, drugs, tobacco, gambling, pornography, and excessively violent films or literature.



### The Supreme Master Ching Hai's teachings on line

#### Real video / Multi languages

www.Godsimmediatecontact.org/video/

(in U.S.A. with Windows Media Video & Real Video; Available in multiple languages).

#### Sample booklet of Master's teachings

For a free download of Master's sample booklet, The key of immediate enlightenment and eternal liberation (available in 50 languages), please visit:

www.Godsdirectcontact.org.tw/eng/publication/sample/sample.htm

www.Direkter-kontakt-mit-gott.org/download/index.htm

www.Godsdirectcontact.org/sample

#### E-news magazine

Found in April 1990, the E-news magazine provides up-to-date, detailed reports of Master's work and life during these years.

www.Godsdirectcontact.org

#### E-book

Free download of The key of immediate enlightenment – Questions and answers 2. Just go to one of the following Internet sites then double-click the file from your desktop to open the book. (Total file size is approximately 14MB for one executable file and 5.5MB each for 3 zip files; no special software is needed to open or run it.)

www.Godsdirectcontact.org/ebook/download/

(U.S.A.) (download 3 zip files)

www.Godsdirectcontact.com/ebook/

(U.S.A.) (download 3 zip files)

www.Godsimmediatecontact.net/

(U.S.A.) (download 1 executable)

#### **Quan Yin WWW sites**

For more information about publications, as well as information about the Quan Yin method, please visit the following websites:

www.Godsdirectcontact.com/

www.Godsdirectcontact.org/

www.Godsimmediatecontact.net/

www.Godsimmediatecontact.com/

www.Godsimmediatecontact.org/

www.SupremeMasterTV.com/

www.Edenrules.com/

www.Loveocean.org/

www.Mycelestialpets.com/



### How to contact us

For answers to any inquiry, please check with our local Centers. For the latest information on our liaison practitioners worldwide, please visit the following URL: www.Godsdirectcontact.org.tw/eng/cp/index.htm

#### **Our headquarters**

P.O. Box 730247, San Jose, CA 95173-0247, U.S.A. P.O. Box 9, Hsihu, Miaoli 36899, Formosa (Taiwan).

#### **Supreme Master television**

Email: info@SupremeMasterTV.com / www.SupremeMasterTV.com Tel: (1) 626 444 4385 / Fax: (1) 626 444 4386

#### TV program videotapes "A journey through aesthetic realms"

Email: TV@Godsdirectcontact.org

## Supreme Master Ching Hai International Association Publishing Co., Ltd., Taipei, Formosa

E-mail: smchbooks@Godsdirectcontact.org / www.Smchbooks.com Tel: (886) 2 8787 3935 / Fax: (886) 2 8787 0873

#### S.M. book department

Email: divine@Godsdirectcontact.org / Fax: (1) 240 352 5613 or (886) 9 4988 3778 (You are welcome to join us in translating Master's books into other languages.)

#### **News group**

Email: lovenews@Godsdirectcontact.org / Fax: (1) 801 740 9196 or (886) 9 4672 8475

#### S.M. Celestial Co., Ltd. / The Celestial shop

Email: mcj@mail.sm-cj.com / www.sm-cj.com - www.thecelestialshop.com Tel: (886) 2 8791 0860 / Fax: (886) 2 8791 1216

#### Spiritual information desk

Email: lovewish@Godsdirectcontact.org / Fax: (886) 9 4673 0699

#### The loving food company

Email: Ifhealth@ms32.hinet.net / www.edenrules.com (on line shopping) Tel: (886) 37 723 886 – Fax: (886) 37 724 065 Address: 1499 Chung-Hwa Road, Ho-Long Chen, Miaoli, Formosa (Taiwan)



### Introduction to our publications

#### The key of immediate enlightenment

- \* A collection of Supreme Master Ching Hai's lectures.
- \* Available in Aulacese (Vols. 1-16), Bulgarian (Vol. 1), Chinese (Vols. 1-10), English (Vols. 1-5), French (Vol. 1), German (Vols. 1-2), Hungarian (Vol. 1), Indonesian (Vols. 1-5), Japanese (Vol. 1-4), Korean (Vols. 1-11), Mongolian (Vols. 4 & 6), Polish (Vols. 1-2), Portuguese (Vols. 1-2), Spanish (Vols. 1-3), Swedish (Vol. 1), Thai (Vols. 1-6), and Tibetan (Vol. 1).

#### The key of immediate enlightenment – Questions and answers

- \* Question and answer sessions between Master and spiritual practitioners.
- \* Available in Aulacese (Vols. 1-4), Bulgarian (Vol. 1), Chinese (Vols. 1-3), Czech (Vol. 1), English (Vols. 1-2), French (Vol. 1), German (Vol. 1), Hungarian (Vol. 1), Indonesian (Vols. 1-3), Japanese (Vol. 1), Korean (Vols. 1-2), Polish (Vol. 1), and Portuguese (Vol. 1).

#### The key of immediate enlightenment – Special edition

- \* A collection of Master's lectures during the 1993 world lecture tour.
- \* Available in Chinese and English (Vols. 1-6).

#### The key of immediate enlightenment – My wondrous experiences with Master \* Available in Aulacese and Chinese (Vols. 1-2).

#### The key of immediate enlightenment – Special edition / Seven-day retreat

- \* A collection of Master's lectures during a seven-day retreat in Formosa, 1992.
- \* Available in Aulacese and English.

#### Letters between Master and spiritual practitioners

\* Available in Aulacese (Vols. 1-2), Chinese (Vols. 1-3), English (Vol. 1), and Spanish (Vol. 1).

#### **Master tells stories**

\* Available in Aulacese, Chinese, English, Japanese, Korean, Spanish, and Thai.

#### Aphorisms

- \* Gems of eternal wisdom from Supreme Master Ching Hai.
- \* Available in combined language editions of Chinese/English, English/Japanese, English/Korean, French/German, and Portuguese/Spanish.

#### I have come to take you Home

- \* A collection of quotes and spiritual teachings by Supreme Master Ching Hai.
- \* Available in Arabic, Aulacese, Bulgarian, Chinese, Czech, English, French, German, Greek, Hungarian, Indonesian, Italian, Korean, Romanian, Russian, Polish, Spanish, and Turkish.

#### God's direct contact – The way to reach peace

- \* A collection of quotes and spiritual teachings by Supreme Master Ching Hai.
- \* Available in Chinese and English.

#### **Coloring our lives**

- \* A collection of quotes and spiritual teachings by Supreme Master Ching Hai.
- \* Available in Chinese and English.

#### Of God and humans – Insights from bible stories

- \* A collection of quotes and spiritual teachings by Supreme Master Ching Hai.
- \* Available in Chinese and English.

#### God takes care of everything

- \* Illustrated tales of wisdom by Supreme Master Ching Hai.
- \* Available in Aulacese, Chinese, English, French, Japanese, and Korean.
- The Supreme Master Ching Hai's enlightenment humor Your halo is too tight!
- \* Available in Chinese and English.

#### Secrets to effortless spiritual practice

\* Available in Chinese and English.

## Living in the golden age series – The realization of health – Returning to the natural and righteous way of living

- \* Collected excerpts from the lectures of Supreme Master Ching Hai.
- \* Available in Chinese and English.

#### The dogs in my life (Vols. 1-2)

- \* Stories by Supreme Master Ching Hai.
- \* Available in Chinese and English.

#### The birds in my life

- \* Stories by Supreme Master Ching Hai.
- \* Available in Chinese and English.

#### The noble wilds

- \* Stories by Supreme Master Ching Hai.
- \* Available in English.

#### Supreme kitchen – International vegetarian cuisine

- \* A collection of culinary delicacies recommended by Master and fellow practitioners from all parts of the world.
- \* Available in Aulacese, Chinese/English, and Japanese.

#### Supreme kitchen – Home taste selections

\* Available in Chinese/English.

#### DVD, VCD, Video, Audio & MP3

\* Almost all of Supreme Master Ching Hai's lectures, interviews and talks with groups of practitioners during the past decades have been recorded and are available on audio or videotapes, as well as VCD and DVD, subtitled in multiple languages. Detailed catalogs of Master's videotapes, audiotapes and books are available from www.smchbook.com. All publications are offered at near-cost prices. Direct inquires are welcome; please contact your local Center or the Formosa headquarters smchbooks@Godsdirectcontact.org with any questions or requests.

## Supreme Master Ching Hai's art world: *Poetry*

- \* Wu Tzu poems (in Aulacese, Chinese, and English).
- \* Silent tears (in Aulacese/Chinese/English, Filipino, French/German, Korean, Portuguese, and Spanish).
- \* Traces of previous lives (in Aulacese, Chinese, and English).
- \* Pebbles and gold (in Aulacese, Chinese, and English).
- \* The lost memories (in Aulacese, Chinese, and English).

- \* The dream of a butterfly (in Aulacese, Chinese, and English).
- \* The old times (in Aulacese and English).
- The collection of the art creations
- \* Series of paintings by Master.

#### Musical creations

- \* Collections of music and songs composed by Master.
- \* Poetry recited by Master Herself.
- \* Available on CD, audiotape, videotape & DVD.

#### **Benefit concerts**

\* Long Beach, CA (1996), Washington, D.C. (1997), and Hollywood, CA (1998). These benefit concerts held in honor of Supreme Master Ching Hai, feature Her poetry set to music by world-famous composers and performed by renowned singers and musicians.

#### Specially recommended: "One world... of peace through music"

- \* Benefit concert held at the Shrine Auditorium in 1998.
- \* Available on video, CD and one exquisite book (in Aulacese, Chinese, and English).

#### An evening with the stars – With Hollywood celebrities

\* Available on DVD.

#### Paintings, lamps, clothing and jewelry design... SM celestial fashion album

\* Appreciate Master's art work online www.Godsdirectcontact.org.tw



### Beautiful gifts for yourselves and your loved ones

Animals are celestial beings, just like humans. We can talk to each other from deep within. Love is our common language, the celestial language.

The books entitled *The Dogs in My Life, The Birds in My Life* and *The Noble Wilds* share the loving feeling between any pet and their Master. The deeply personal relationship between a human and an animal companion is intimate, touching and full of unconditional love. Reading these books helps us to build an interactive intimacy with our own loving pets.

We invite the readers to experience the beautiful and blissful love between a humanitarian and spiritual Teacher and Her noble, loving pets. Supreme Master Ching Hai has millions of adoring fans around the world, but none so close as Her own loving pets.

#### **Book descriptions**

In the newly released *The Dogs in My Life* (Volume 1 & 2), the first publication lovingly written and personally designed by Supreme Master Ching Hai, readers will rediscover the simplicity of the love and rejoice in the sincerity of friendship, as exhibited by the 10 canine friends, with names like Benny, Lucky, Happy, Goody, and Hermit. Learn about the Scholar, Fruity, Princissa, Chip Ahoy, the Shadow Hunter, and others; listen to their engaging tales. They all have diverse life stories and distinctive personalities, yet their devotion for their "human pet" is unequivocal, and their humor, intelligence and many other noble qualities are truly from the same source.

Following *The Dogs in My Life*, Supreme Master Ching Hai wrote another book entitled, *The Birds in My Life*, for the twenty-three beloved winged members of Her household. In this beautifully illustrated book, each feathered creature is described in a biography lovingly composed by Master, together with pictures from the bird's daily life and captions with "bird talk."

Each of these beautiful birds comes from a different background and has an interesting and unique personality. Some of their stories will move us into tears, while others may make us smile. Their cute mannerisms have brought much joy and laughter to Master. Hidden inside these tiny creatures are highly developed and loving souls. Master said that She has often been touched by the expressions and actions of the birds, and even inspired by them. She hopes that all of us will understand other living beings such as birds, and love and respect them as equals.

#### Supreme Master Ching Hai – Secrets To Effortless Spiritual Practice

With a rhythmic, meditative tone, the words of *The Noble Wilds* flow gracefully along the pages, complemented by the luminous photos of God's creations in nature. Turning the pages, one is transported to Amoura, the place where the lady lives and is visited by cherished beings of the wild. The lady is none other than Supreme Master Ching Hai, and *The Noble Wilds* is yet another of Her simple but deeply touching gifts. Written, photographed and compiled personally by Master, this precious gem opens the door to a world of unique beauty. Here, the reader can witness firsthand the noble spirit and dedication of our co-inhabitants whose homes are under the open sky the swan, the goose, the squirrel, the beaver and even a tiny garden snail. Although generally shy of humans, these animals allow themselves to be photographed, and indeed can even be seen eagerly approaching the lady's gentle offering of favorite foods. The love conveyed is unlike any other full of dignity and grace, yet as deep and enduring as the eternal. All books are printed by soy ink for environmental protection. Such ink is not only nontoxic but also very helpful for environment of the mother earth which is a good example of "time to act."

Through these books, we will understand how deeply our animal friends can feel and how intelligent they can be. They are absolutely loyal to partners, friends and human caretakers. They can be very sensitive and tender in expressing their love, and when they lose a loved one, they suffer the same sadness as humans do. That's why Master Ching Hai says, "If humans could love each other that much, peace and happiness would be ours forever." These three hundred pages of wonderful pictures and stories will lead us to a world populated by beautiful birds and help us understand their lives, their deep emotions and thoughts.

Read *The Dogs in My Life, The Birds in My Life* and *The Noble Wilds*, and fall in love with some of the most special beings on earth. *The Dogs in My Life, The Birds in My Life* and *The Noble Wilds* are also available online at: www.amazon.com/dp/9866895084/ ; www.amazon.com/dp/9866895149/ and www.amazon.com/Noble-Wilds-Supreme-Master-Ching/dp/9868415233.

These books are beautiful gifts for yourselves and your loved ones. Have them delivered as soon as possible to our doors and begin experiencing God's love and blessing flowing on every page!

#### About the author Supreme Master Ching Hai

Supreme Master Ching Hai was born in central Au Lac (Vietnam). At the age of eighteen, Master Ching Hai moved to England to study, and then later to France and then Germany, where She worked for the Red Cross and married a German physician. After two years of happy marriage, with Her husband's blessings, She left Her marriage in pursuit of enlightenment, thus fulfilling an ideal that had been with Her since Her childhood. This began a time of arduous pilgrimages to many different countries that ended only when She met a perfect living Master in the Himalayas. Master Ching Hai received the divine transmission of the inner Light and Sound, which She later called the Quan Yin method of meditation. After a period of diligent practice, She attained perfect enlightenment. To satisfy the longing of sincere Truth seekers, Supreme Master Ching Hai offers the Quan Yin method of meditation to people of all nationalities, religions and cultural backgrounds. Her message of love and peace brings spiritual liberation and hope to people throughout the world, reminding all to uphold Truth, virtue, and beauty in life.



### **Alternative living**

Change our life Change our heart Change our diet

\*\*\*\*

#### No more killing Be healthy and loving

#### Examples of nutritious, life saving food:

Foods	Protein concentration (% by weight)
Tofu (from soya).	16%
Gluten (from flour).	70%
Corn.	13%
Rice.	8.6%
Soy beans, kidney beans, chick peas, lentils, et cetera.	10 – 35%
Almonds, walnuts, cashews, hazel nuts, pine nuts, et cetera.	14 – 30%
Pumpkin seeds, sesame seeds, sunflower seeds, et cetera.	18 – 24%
	·

 Concentrated multi-vitamin tables / capsules are also a good source of vitamins, minerals and antioxidants.

- Fruits and vegetables are full of vitamins, minerals and anti-oxidants and contain high-quality fiber for maintaining good health and a long life.
- The recommended daily allowance: 50 grams of protein (average adult).
- Calcium from vegetables is more absorbable than from cow's milk.
- To diminish the real threat of a worldwide pandemic from bird flu;
- To avoid the danger of mad cow disease (BSE) and pig disease (PMWS), et cetera; and
- To stop the continuing gruesome sacrifice of billions of our sweet domestic animals, marine life and feathered friends daily.

It's wise to change to a vegetarian diet for good:

- It's health;
- It's economy;
- It's ecology;
- It's compassion;
- It's peace; and
- It's noble.

For more information, visit our websites: www.Godsdirectcontact.org / www.SupremeMasterTV.com.



What's new and exciting on the Internet? Enjoy heavenly teachings by Supreme Master Ching Hai as well as constructive, inspirational and entertaining programs! Watch live online TV at:

www.SupremeMasterTV.com

Globally free-to-air satellite TV channels 24 hours a day, 7 days a week. (From Asia to North & South America, from Australia to Africa, from United Kingdom to Ireland, and from Middle East to Europe).

With over 30 languages and subtitles!

# **Supreme Master Television**

Continents	Satellites
Asia	ABS (75°E); AsiaSat 2 (100.5°E); AsiaSat 3S (105.5°E) & Intelsat
	10 (68.5 °E) C Band
Africa	Intelsat 10 (68.5°E) KU Band &
	Intelsat 10 (68.5 °E) C Band
Australia & New Zealand	Optus B3 / D2 (152°E)
Europe	Eurobird (28.5°E); Hotbird (13°E) & Astra 1 (19.2°E)
Middle East & North Africa	Eurobird 2 (25.5°E) & Hotbird 6 (13°E)
North America	Galaxy 25 (97°W)
South America	Hispasat (30°W) & Intelsat 907 (27.5°W)
United Kingdom and Ireland	Sky Channel 887